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1.	 General Information

1.1	 Submission of the Annual Report to the Executive Authority

Provincial Minister of Local Government, Environmental Affairs and Development 
Planning

As the Accounting Officer, I am pleased to submit the 
2009/10 Annual Report of the Department of Environmental 
Affairs and Development Planning. This Annual Report is 
presented in terms of Section 40(1)(d) of the Public Finance 
Management Act (PFMA), 1999.

Section 65(1)(a) of the PFMA requires from you as the 
Executive Authority, to table the Annual Report in the 
Provincial Legislature by 30 September 2010. In the event 
that this is not possible, you are required in terms of section 
65(2)(a) of the PFMA to provide a written explanation to 
the Provincial Legislature.  

ACCOUNTING OFFICER

DATE: 31 August 2010

R.J. Ellis (Mr)
Head of Department
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1.2	 Introduction by the Head of Department

Despite the challenges experienced during the 2009/10 financial year, I am proud to report that the Department 
performed remarkably well. 

As part of the modernisation of the Provincial Government, the Department made significant progress with the 
finalisation of its organisational redesign. This process was influenced by the implementation of the Occupation 
Specific Dispensation (OSD) for engineers and related professionals and for environmental and biodiversity 
officers, which required not only calculation adjustments but also revisiting of the proposed establishment. 
The implementation of the OSD was centrally driven by the Department of Public Service and Administration 
and this process was only concluded during March 2010, but was applicable from 1 July 2009.

Legislation development, as identified targets in the 2009/10 Annual Performance Plan, proved a major 
challenge but I am convinced that the lessons learnt and the approach identified will expedite current and 
future legislation development.

The Department featured prominently during the planning phase of the provincial strategic objectives for the 
next five years and I am confident that the Department is geared to be a key contributor to successfully achieve 
the Province’s goals.

The key to the success of this Department is its staff;  I would like to thank them for their continued contributions 
and loyalty. As management, we value your commitment and energy and know that you will make this 
Department and the Province proud.

1.3	 Information on the Ministry

Although Mr P Uys was the Executive Authority responsible for Local Government, Environmental Affairs and 
Development Planning at the beginning of the financial year, Mr A Bredell was appointed as the Executive 
Authority after the 2009 general election. During this period no official visits abroad were undertaken by the 
Executive Authority.  The Western Cape Nature Conservation Board, trading as CapeNature, is the provincial 
public entity responsible for conservation management and reports to the Minister. 

The following bills and documents were submitted to the legislature during the financial year:

•	 Biosphere Reserve Act and regulations, for approval to advertise the Bill for public comment.

•	 The Draft Health Care Waste Management Amendment Bill which was published in the Government Gazette 
(PN 361/2009) for public comment.  

•	 A memorandum to obtain approval to publish the Green Procurement Policy as a Green Paper for public 
comment.
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1.4	 Vision and mission statement

Vision

An environment conducive to sustainable life.

Mission

To promote environmental integrity that supports human well-being and economic efficiency towards 
sustainable life in the Western Cape.
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1.6	 Legislative mandates

Annual Division of Revenue Act

Atmospheric Pollution Prevention Act, 1965 (Act No. 45 of 1965)

Basic Conditions of Employment Act, 1997 (Act No. 75 of 1997)

Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996 (Act No. 108 of 1996)

Constitution of the Western Cape, 1998 (Act No. 1 of 1998)

Disaster Management Act, 2002 (Act No. 57 of 2002)

Electricity Act, 1987 (Act No. 41 of 1987)

Employment Equity Act, 1998 (Act No. 55 of 1998)

Environmental Conservation Act, 1989 (Act No. 73 of 1989)

Forest Act, 1984 (Act No.122 of 1984)

Gas Act, 2001 (Act No. 48 of 2001)

Hazardous Substances Act, 1973 (Act No. 15 of 1973)

Labour Relations Act, 1995 (Act No. 66 of 1995)

Land-use Planning Ordinance, 1985 (Ordinance 15 of 1985)

Marine Living Resources Act, 1998 (Act No. 18 of 1998)

Minerals Act, 1991 (Act No. 50 of 1991)

Mountain Catchment Areas Act, 1970 (Act No. 63 of 1970)

Municipal Finance Management Act, 2003 (Act No. 56 of 2003)

National Environmental Management Act, 1998 (Act No. 107 of 1998)

National Environmental Management: Air Quality Act, 2004 (Act No. 39 of 2004)

National Environmental Management: Biodiversity Act, 2004 (Act No. 10 of 2004)

National Environmental Management: Integrated Coastal Management Act, 2008 (Act No. 24 of 2008)

National Environmental Management: Protected Areas Act, 2003 (Act No. 57 of 2003)

National Environmental Management: Waste Act, 2004 (Act No. 59 of 2008)

National Forest Act, 1998 (Act No. 84 of 1998)

National Monuments Act, 1969 (Act No. 28 of 1969)

National Nuclear Regulator Act, 1999 (Act No. 47 of 1999)

National Roads Traffic Act, 1996 (Act No. 94 of 1996)

National Water Act, 1998 (Act No. 36 of 1998)

Nature and Environmental Conservation Ordinance, 1974 (Ordinance 19 of 1974)

Noise Control Regulations (Provincial Notice 627/1998)

Nuclear Energy Act, 1999 (Act No. 46 of 1999)

Occupational Health and Safety Act, 1993 (Act No. 85 of 1993)

Problem Animal Control Ordinance, 1957 (Ordinance 26 of 1957)

Promotion of Access to Information Act, 2000 (Act No. 2 of 2000)

Promotion of Administrative Justice Act, 2000 (Act No. 3 of 2000)

Provincial Development Council Law, 1996 (Law No. 5 of 1996)

Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999)

Public Service Act, 1994 (Proclamation No. 103 of 1994)

Restitution of Land Rights Act, 1994

Seashore Act, 1935 (Act No. 21 of 1935)

Skills Development Act, 1998 (Act No. 97 of 1998)

Skills Development Levies Act, 1999 (Act No. 29 of 1999)

The National Heritage Resources Act, 1999 (Act No. 25 of 1999)

Western Cape Land Administration Act, 1998 (Act No. 6 of 1998)

Western Cape Nature Conservation Board Act, 1998 (Act No. 15 of 1998)

Western Cape Planning and Development Act, 1999 (Act No. 7 of 1999)
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1.7	 Public entities controlled by the Department

The following provincial entities resort under the responsibility of the Department.

Western Cape Nature Conservation Board

The Western Cape Nature Conservation Board, trading as CapeNature, was established in terms of the Western 
Cape Nature Conservation Board Act, 1998 (Act No. 15 of 1998). In terms of section 47(1) of the Public Finance 
Management Act (PFMA), 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999 as amended by Act No. 29 of 1999), the Minister of Finance 
listed the Western Cape Nature Conservation Board as a schedule 3, part C provincial public entity with effect 
from 1 April 2001. The objectives of the Western Cape Nature Conservation Board are:

a)	 to promote and ensure nature conservation and related matters in the Province;

b)	 to render services and provide facilities for research and training in connection with nature conservation and 
related matters in the Province; and 

c)	 pursuing the objectives set out in paragraphs (a) and (b), to generate income.

Environmental Commissioner

Although the Commissioner for the Environment was listed as a schedule 3 part C (PFMA) public entity it 
was decided not to pursue the establishment of Environmental Commissioner. However, a process was put 
in motion to obtain approval for the suspension of the process of the establishment of the Office of the 
Commissioner for the Environment.
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2.	 Programme Performance 

2.1	 Voted funds

Appropriation

Main Appropriation

(R’000)

Adjusted 
Appropriation

(R’000)

Actual Amount Spent

(R’000)

Under Expenditure

(R’000)

Department 266,757 265,061 263,330 1,731

Responsible Minister Minister of Local Government, Environmental Affairs and Development Planning

Administering 
Department Department of Environmental Affairs and Development Planning

Accounting Officer Head of Department of Environmental Affairs and Development Planning 

2.2	 Aim of vote

The aim of the Department is to promote sustainable development, pollution and solid waste management, 
the protection of biodiversity, provincial, regional and local spatial planning, associated environmental and 
land development management, coastal management and law enforcement and monitoring.

2.3	 Key measurable objectives, programmes and achievements

Key measurable objectives

During the drafting of the 2009/10 Annual Performance Plan, the Department reviewed and confirmed its 
strategic goals and objectives as identified in the 2005-2009 Five-Year Strategic and Performance Plan.

These strategic goals, which are underpinned by the six strategic objectives are:

Strategic Goals 
1.	 Embedding sustainable development in the growth and development of the Western Cape.

2.	 Providing cutting-edge leadership and innovative approaches to environmental management and integrated development 
planning.

3.	 Enhancing the quality of life of all people through facilitating vibrant, integrated and sustainable human settlements.

4.	 Accelerating economic growth as well as participation in, and access to, the environmental economy.  

Strategic Objectives
1.	 To mainstream the sustainable development paradigm in environmental planning and management.

2.	 To develop systems, processes and measures to support service delivery.

3.	 To promote environmental integrity and the progressive realisation of environmental rights.

4.	 To undertake spatial planning that promotes and guides sustainable development in the Province and redresses spatial inequalities.

5.	 To provide integrated and holistic environmental management to improve the quality of life of all people in the Western Cape.

6.	 To develop intervention strategies to facilitate equitable access to, and participation in, the environmental economy. 
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Programmes

The activities of the Department are organised into five programmes as identified in the environmental sector 
budget programme structure. These programmes are as follows:

Programme 1: Administration;

Programme 2: Policy Coordination and Environmental Planning;

Programme 3: Compliance and Enforcement;

Programme 4: Environmental Quality Management; and

Programme 5: Biodiversity Management.

Achievements 

Detailed discussions of departmental achievements during the 2009/10 financial year features under the 
respective programme performance. The following highlights the most significant achievements of the 
Department:

Programme 1: Administration

•	 Implementation of the Occupation Specific Dispensation (OSD) for engineers and related occupations, 
biodiversity and environmental officials and geographic information system officials.

 Programme 2: Policy Coordination and Environmental Planning

•	 The amended Draft Biosphere Reserve Bill was submitted to the Provincial Legal Services for final certification. 

•	 A draft Legal Framework for the proposed provincial planning law was compiled.

•	 A process to review and update the Growth Potential Study was initiated.

•	 A Biodiversity Fine Scale Plan to cover gap areas within the Province was initiated.

•	 The George, Knysna and Saldanha Spatial Development Frameworks (SDFs) are progressing satisfactorily and 
all six SDFs are scheduled to be finalised by the end of October 2010, while an additional six municipalities 
(Bitou, Mossel Bay, Breede Valley, Hessequa, Cape Agulhas and Theewaterskloof ) were identified as part of 
phase two of the Built Environment Support Programme (BESP). 

•	 The 2008/09 Sustainable Development Report was completed in the latter part of 2009 and the drafting of the 
2009/10 Sustainable Development Report commenced.
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•	 A draft White Paper on Sustainable Energy was compiled, comments were requested and where appropriate, 
integrated into the draft White Paper.

•	 The Regional Regulatory Action Plan (RRAP) was drafted and presented to stakeholders in November 2009.

•	 The 2008/09 (first) review of the Second Edition Environmental Implementation Plan was submitted to the 
National Department of Environmental Affairs while the 2009/10 (second) review of the Second Edition is in 
progress.

•	 Four internationally recognised environmental days were celebrated.

•	 A new GIS Server was installed and the migration process from the current GIS Server to the new GIS Server 
has to be undertaken. 

•	 GIS awareness was identified as another crucial intervention and 13 awareness sessions/events were held.

Programme 3: Compliance and Enforcement

•	 Complaints received from members of the public, referrals from municipalities, government departments and 
directorates within the Department were, and are continually investigated. Joint inspections strengthen the 
ties between the Department and other organs of state.  

Programme 4: Environmental Quality Management

•	 286 Environmental authorisations were monitored for compliance to conditions of authorisation.

•	 The Saldanha Bay Environmental Management Framework (EMF) was initiated and the Drakenstein 
Environmental Management Framework (EMF) was completed.

•	 1013 Environmental applications and 1109 planning applications were finalised.

•	 The Provincial Air Quality Management Plan (AQMP) was finalised, printed and announced at the 
2Precious2Pollute programme ceremony.

•	 The monitoring of ambient air quality took place in Mossel Bay, Vredenburg and Paarl and thereafter the 
monitoring stations were relocated from Paarl to Worcester, from Vredenburg to Malmesbury and from Mossel 
Bay to George. A fourth monitoring station was also commissioned and began operating in Maitland, City of 
Cape Town.

•	 Good progress was made with the development of the Monitoring and Evaluation (M&E) system to measure 
implementation of the Climate Change Response Strategy and Action Plan.  

•	 Increased environmental and climate change training was provided to teachers, Community Development 
Workers and the hospitality sector. 
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•	 Solar water heaters were rolled out in various needy communities to stimulate the solar geyser industry in the 
Western Cape.

•	 The Department initiated a project to determine the Sea Level Rise Risk assessment for the Eden District 
coastline.

•	 The Department initiated a Provincial Programme of Action for Protection of the Marine Environment from 
land-based activities.

•	 A Quick Reference Guide on Chemicals Management was produced and distributed.

•	 47 Cases of remediation of contaminated land were evaluated and remediation options determined in terms 
of Section 28 of the National Environmental Management Act (NEMA).

•	 17 of the 125 (i.e. 13.6%) authorised waste management facilities were monitored for compliance and eight 
residents’ monitoring committees were attended as part of the compliance monitoring function.

•	 Following the public participation and comment process, the Health Care Waste Management Amendment Bill 
was certified by the Provincial Legal Services and is currently in the parliamentary process.

•	 The Waste Management in Education (WAME) programme was rolled out to 25 foundation phase educators 
from schools in the Matzikama area.

•	 Significant progress was made with the finalisation and translation of a draft Green Paper on a Green 
Procurement Policy.  The Provincial Cabinet was approached to publish the Green Procurement Policy as a 
Green Paper for public comment. 

•	 The 2Wise2Waste programme, an environmental efficiency programme, was marketed to other provincial 
departments, municipalities and the public.

•	 A Waste Minimisation Summit was hosted on 3–4 March 2010 and provided exhibition space that showcased 
waste minimisation technologies and products.

•	 An additional four municipalities took part in the pilot test of the Monitoring and Evaluation (M&E) system 
for Integrated Waste Management Plans (IWMPs) to test factors that could hamper full-scale implementation. 

•	 The development of industry waste management plans for the Consumer Formulated Chemical Sector (CFCS) 
was facilitated by developing a template and workshopped with industry representatives.

Programme 5: Biodiversity Management

•	 A survey on Boat Launching Sites in the Province was initiated and finalised at the end of March 2010.

•	 Part of the implementation of the National Environmental Management: Integrated Coastal Management 
Act included the appointment of the Coastal Management Unit by the Provincial Cabinet as the lead 
agent for Coastal Management in the Province and the publication of advertisement for Membership to 
the Provincial Coastal Committee (PCC).
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2.4	 Overview of the service delivery environment for 2009/10

Perhaps one of the major challenges experienced by the Department in meeting its 2009/10 Annual 
Performance Plan targets relates to legislation. In many instances the drafting of legislation was initiated in 
previous financial years of which the Department planned to have finalised during the 2009/10 financial year. 

Prevailing environmental factors such as court judgements, the promulgation and non-promulgation of 
national legislation, changes of the executive authorities, new legal opinions as well as the introduction 
of the modernisation programme significantly contributed to the delivery of set targets. The impact of the 
preceding factors necessitated that the Department re-examine the drafted legislation and/or commence the 
formulation process at the initial phase. 

Financial constraints remained a fundamental challenge for the Department.  Employee compensation savings 
that accumulated as a result of vacancies were reprioritised during the financial year. However, following the 
higher than budgeted 2009 annual general salary adjustments and the introduction of the Occupation Specific 
Dispensation (OSD) for environmental, town and regional planners and geographic information system officials; 
the Department was forced to reconsider the reprioritisation plan as no additional funding was received. 

Effective financial management ensured that the Department addressed the additional expenditure burden, 
however sustained fiscal increases continued to and will severely impact on target achievements and create 
higher operational risks for long term planning. The intention of the Department to operationalise the new 
organisational structure required additional funding. Although the new structure will be introduced in phases, 
the desired result will not be realised without the required funding. 

2.5	 Overview of the organisational environment for 2009/10

The line functionaries of the Department predominantly comprise environmental officials, town and regional 
planners and geographic information system technicians.  Specialised skills are required to conduct the 
various service delivery activities of the Department such as compliance monitoring and law enforcement, 
environmental monitoring and reporting, spatial and forward planning, pollution and waste management, 
evaluation of environmental and land-use planning applications, coastal management, biodiversity 
management and climate change.

The institutional ability to recruit and retain officials equipped with these specialised skills and knowledge has 
been an ongoing challenge.  It is primarily costly to formally train, mentor and coach officials to ensure their 
efficacy in the workplace.  The financial institutional investment into these officials is secondarily negated as 
these now experienced, trained and skilled officials are recruited by the private sector, municipalities and other 
government departments, offering higher or market related remuneration packages. 

As part of addressing this challenge, the Occupational Specific Dispensation (OSD) was implemented 
to confidently compete with packages offered by other employers.  The Department continued with its 
refinement exercise and a proposed macro establishment was finalised at the end of the 2009/10 financial year.  
The Department had to review its first draft macro structure due to these financial implications.  This process 
also prompted a review of the proposed macro structure. 
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The Provincial Government also introduced a Modernisation Programme and while the investigation into 
this model continued, a moratorium was placed on the filling of Human Resource Management, Corporate 
and Finance vacancies.  The implementation of the OSD, the related activities to the drafting of the new 
departmental macro-structure, the introduction of interim financial statements and increasing requests for 
information, required the Department to appoint contract employees to manage these operational demands.    

2.6	 Strategic overview and key policy developments for the 2009/10 financial 
year

Policy developments and legislative changes

•	 Biosphere Reserve Bill and Regulations

During September 2009, Provincial Cabinet granted approval to advertise the Biosphere Reserve Bill for public 
comment.  The comments were received, considered and the amended Draft Biosphere Reserve Bill was 
submitted to the Provincial Legal Services for final certification.  Progress with regard to the drafting of the 
Biosphere Reserve Act was hindered by changes of the Executive Authority experienced over the past two 
years.  The support of the Executive Authority was crucial to facilitate the legislative process.  

•	 Provincial Planning and Development Amendment Bill and the Land Use Planning Act

A Provincial Planning and Development Act (PDA) was approved in 1999 and two sections were implemented 
to facilitate the establishment of a Planning Review Board. Legislative changes necessitated the need to 
amend the approved PDA and an Amendment Bill was compiled and submitted to the Executive Authority 
in 2002/03. At this stage the Executive Authority decided on a process to draft a new provincial integrated 
law to integrate planning, environment and heritage requirements into one ideal provincial law. A draft 
Integrated Bill was compiled by March 2007 but could not proceed because it required changes to National 
Legislation. The Executive Authority decided that the Department proceed with the PDA Amendment Bill, 
but court judgements and promulgation of National Legislation suggested that the PDA Amendment Bill 
must totally be redrafted. Instead it was decided to develop a new Provincial Land Use Planning Act (LUPA) 
to ensure improved alignment with planning and other development legislation and a first draft was finalised 
in March 2009. However, a Supreme Court of Appeal judgement suggested that the approach followed in the 
first draft of LUPA needed to be revisited and it was decided to develop a consensus legal framework, that is 
constitutionally acceptable, to guide the development of the proposed new provincial planning law. A draft 
legal framework for the proposed provincial planning law was compiled and discussed with representatives of 
municipalities and presented during a meeting of the Premier’s Coordinating Forum (PCF) that was attended 
by the Minister, Mayors and Municipal Managers on 17 March 2010.  

•	 Provincial Spatial Development Framework and Associated Manuals

The Provincial Spatial Development Framework (PSDF) was approved by the Executive Authority on 24 June 
2009. As part of the implementation of the PSDF, draft manuals were compiled but the public participation 
process could not proceed before the approval of the PSDF. Subsequently the manuals were advertised for 
comment and workshops were conducted during November/December 2009. The closing date for comments 
on the manuals was 29 January 2010. 
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•	 Growth Potential Study

The Department embarked on a process to review and update the Growth Potential Study.  This review will also 
be used as an important informant of the Provincial Spatial Plan that the Department will embark upon in the 
2010/11 financial year. 

•	 Biodiversity Fine Scale Plan

The Department embarked on a Biodiversity Fine Scale Plan to cover gap areas within the Province that were 
not covered by previous studies. This Biodiversity Fine Scale Plan will assist, especially rural municipalities, in 
compiling municipal and provincial spatial plans to recognise and protect areas of high biodiversity value 
within their jurisdiction.

•	 Municipal Spatial Development Frameworks

As part of the Built Environment Support Program (BESP), the Department is responsible for the compilation 
of credible municipal Spatial Development Frameworks (SDF) for Knysna, George, Overstrand, Stellenbosch, 
Drakenstein and Saldanha. The George, Knysna and Saldanha SDFs are progressing satisfactorily and it 
is anticipated that the SDFs will be finalised by the end of October 2010. Simultaneously, an additional six 
municipalities were identified as part of phase two of the BESP. These municipalities are Bitou, Mossel Bay, 
Breede Valley, Hessequa, Cape Agulhas and Theewaterskloof. 

•	 White Paper on Sustainable Energy

In partnership with Sustainable Energy Africa (SEA) and through funding by the British High Commission, the 
Department embarked on the Western Cape Clean Energy Governance Programme. This programme included 
the development of the Western Cape White Paper on Sustainable Energy. A draft White Paper on Sustainable 
Energy was compiled which, when approved, will be followed by a Sustainable Energy Bill.

•	 Environmental Management Framework

The Department initiated the Saldanha Bay Environmental Management Framework (EMF) and completed 
the development of the Drakenstein Environmental Management Framework (EMF). However, the approval 
of all EMFs are dependent on the promulgation of the amended National Environmental Management Act: 
Environmental Impact Assessment (NEMA: EIA) Regulations which have not yet come into effect, hence the 
approval of the EMFs could not happen.

•	 Provincial Air Quality Management Plan

The finalised Provincial Air Quality Management Plan (AQMP) was launched at the 2Precious2Pollute 
programme ceremony.  Four public participation and three sector workshops were held as part of the public 
participation process, while regular Project Steering and Technical Committee meetings were held. A Status 
Quo Report on Air Quality Management in the Western Cape was also produced.
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•	 Sea Level Rise Risk Assessment - Eden

A project was initiated to determine the Sea Level rise risk assessment for the Eden District coastline. Draft 
status and modelling reports were provided while the final reports and digital maps need to be finalised. 
Similar studies for the remainder of the provincial coastline are planned to be undertaken in the current and  
subsequent financial years.

•	 Provincial Noise Control Regulations

The finalisation of the reviewed Provincial Noise Control Regulations was delayed when Provincial Legal 
Services raised concerns on the constitutionality of the Regulations, which was contrary to their initial opinion. 
The Department requested an external legal opinion to verify this opinion.  If upheld, the revised Regulations 
cannot be promulgated without substantial amendment or possible further enactment of framework 
legislation.   

•	 Western Cape Health Care Waste Management Amendment Act

The Western Cape Health Care Waste Management Act (HCWMA) (Act No. 7 of 2007) and regulations could not 
be implemented due to alignment with the NEMA: Waste Act that commenced on 1 July 2009. The drafting of 
the amendment to the HCWMA commenced and the Draft Health Care Waste Management Amendment Bill 
was published in the Government Gazette for public comment. Comments on the draft were processed and 
the Health Care Waste Management Amendment Bill was certified by Provincial Legal Services and is currently 
in the parliamentary process. 

•	 Green Procurement Policy 

Following comments from the reference group, significant progress was made with the finalisation and 
translation of a draft Green Paper on a Green Procurement Policy. A memorandum was submitted to obtain 
approval from the Provincial Cabinet to publish the Green Procurement Policy as a Green Paper for public 
comment. 

•	 National Environmental Management: Integrated Coastal Management Act

Part of the implementation of the National Environmental Management: Integrated Coastal Management Act 
included the appointment of the Coastal Management Unit of the Department as the lead agent for Coastal 
Management in the Province, while an advertisement for Membership to the Provincial Coastal Committee 
(PCC) was also placed. The Department also initiated a project to determine Boat Launching Sites in the Province. 
This project enables the Department to improve the management of these sites and enforce compliance. 
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2.7	 Departmental revenue, expenditure and other specific topics

Collection of departmental revenue

Against a moderate departmental revenue budget of R106,000, the Department collected R1,044 million. 
Major revenue collections are in respect of fines imposed by the National Environmental Management Act 
(NEMA) Section 28G which deals with environmental transgressions and recovery of previous financial years’ 
transactions.  

The table below provides a breakdown of the sources of revenue:

2006/07 
Actual

R’000

2007/08 
Actual

R’000

2008/09 
Actual

R’000

2009/10 
Target

R’000

2009/10 
Actual

R’000

% Deviation 
from Target

Non-tax revenue 74 141 530 106 721 580.2
Sales of goods and services other 
than capital assets 32 38 27 56 63 12.5

Fines, penalties and forfeits  20  99 475 50 614 1 128
Interest, dividends and rent on 
land 4 18 4

Sales of capital assets (Capital 
Revenue) 22 10 40

Financial transactions (Recovery of 
loans and advances) 112 113 210 323

TOTAL DEPARTMENTAL RECEIPTS 186 254 740 106 1,044 884.9

Departmental expenditure

The total original budget allocated to the Department was R266,757 million which was subsequently reduced 
during the Adjustments Estimates to R265,061 million. Included in the total adjusted budget is the amount of 
R133,272 million which was transferred to the provincial conservation public entity, the Western Cape Nature 
Conservation Board. Total expenditure for the financial year amounts to R263,330 million, with under spending 
totaling R1,731 million. Details of the final budget and expenditure per programme are as follows:

Programmes

Voted for 
2009/10

Roll-
Overs and 

Adjustments

Virement Total Voted Actual 
Expenditure

Variance

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000
1 : Administration 35,649 35,129 1,815 36,944 36,943 1
2 : Policy Coordination and   
     Environmental Planning 25,317 23,518 (1,140) 22,378 21,066 1,312

3 : Compliance and Enforcement 7,798 9,263 1,480 10,743 10,742 1
4 : Environmental Quality 
     Management 58,576 59,684 (2,155) 57,529 57,197 332

5 : Biodiversity Management 139,417 137,467 0 137,467 137,382 85
TOTAL 266,757 265,061 0 265,061 263,330 1,731
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Transfer payments

Total transfer payments for the 2009/10 financial year were R134,351 million. As the provincial public entity 
responsible for conservation management, CapeNature received the majority of the total transfer payments at 
R133,272 million or 99.2%. Other transfer payments included R314 000 to the Cape West Coast Biosphere 
Reserve (CWCBR), R200 000 to the Kogelberg Biosphere Reserve (KBR), R60 000 to the University of 
Stellenbosch as part of a rehabilitation programme of a degraded wetland on the Rietenbosch school premises, 
R323 000 to Government Motor Transport for the purchase of vehicles, R178 000 to external full-time bursary 
holders, R2 000 as Injury on duty claims to staff members and R2 000 in respect of worm composting kits and 
garden tools to schools.

Capital investment, maintenance and asset management plan

Assets of the Department predominantly include machinery and equipment such as office furniture, 
information technology and related equipment, air quality monitoring stations and minor assets.  These assets 
are managed by means of an electronic asset management system, which are updated and reconciled with the 
accounting records.

2.8	 Programme 1:	 Administration

Purpose:

The aim of this programme is to provide overall management of the Department and centralised support 
services. 

Measurable objective: 

To establish policies, processes and systems to ensure an enabling corporate service environment.

Service delivery objectives and indicators:

Part of the 2009/10 annual salary increases included the implementation of the Occupation Specific 
Dispensation (OSD) for engineers and related occupations. Within the Department, staff in the environmental 
and biodiversity departments, town and regional planners and geographic information technician fields were 
affected and accounted for more than 60% of the total staff establishment of the Department.

The Department continued with the creation of a new organisational structure, which was at an advanced 
stage of finalisation and approval at 31 March 2010. The implementation of the OSD, especially the associated 
financial implications, also impacted on the proposed structure, and the Department explored alternatives in 
implementing the proposed organisational structure.  
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The Communication and Marketing Management Services (CMMS) unit continued to align its strategic and 
operational functions and responsibilities with the communications mandate as outlined by the Government 
Communication and Information Systems (GCIS). Although the strategic progress cannot be measured, 
significant operational milestones were achieved. 

A Memorandum of Understanding between the National Department of Environmental Affairs and the Western 
Cape Department of Environmental Affairs and Development Planning was agreed on.  Four annual meetings 
are held to discuss a strategic approach to harness, co-ordinate and support environmental communication 
efforts in the public sector.  This forum is a progressive platform at which to identify other stakeholders such 
as private sector and non-governmental organisations with which to establish cooperative communication 
relationships.  This forum aids the formulation of environmental community outreach and stakeholder 
engagement projects and programmes that seek to empower communities on environmental rights.  

The external communication function of the Department was enhanced through constant media management.  
A three phase media plan was executed during the Coastal Cleanup Week while focus media management 
was implemented for the Cleanest Town Competition and during the Cape Town Green Week. The aim of 
media management is to promote the work of the Department and more importantly to share environmental 
information with the public by using the media as a platform of communication.       

Institutional communication is primarily managed by the production of the monthly internal newsletter, 
Green Ambassador. The newsletter is communicated to staff in the George and Cape Town Offices as well 
as other provincial departments ensuring greater awareness of Departmental projects and more specifically 
showcasing the work being carried out by the internal line functions.   

CMMS commenced and continues to manage a website audit. This involves the cooperative support of the line 
functions to update information on the Departmental website. This process is progressive as the changes affect 
internal and external communication responsibilities. A branding exercise was completed by CMMS to ensure 
that strategic corporate communication is aligned and that the Department was holistically represented to 
external stakeholders and that key messages are disseminated to target audiences. The outputs of the branding 
exercise were effected on the departmental website portal for consistency.      
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Service delivery achievements:

Programme

Outputs Output 
Performance 
Measures/
Service Delivery 
Indicators

Actual Performance against Target

Target Actual
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To render 
sound 
Business 
Process 
Support 
Services.

Unqualified 
Auditor-General 
(AG) Report. 

Financial 
Management Level 
rating.

Unqualified Auditor-General 
Report. 

Financial Management 
Level 3 rating.

Financial reports discussed at Strategic, 
Finance and General meetings with Senior 
Management.

Unqualified Auditor-General Report 
received in respect of the 2008/09 financial 
year. 
 
2008/09 fourth quarter and 2009/10 first 
to third quarter non-financial performance 
reports were submitted to the Minister, 
Provincial Treasury and the Shared Audit 
Committee.  

To render 
sound 
corporate 
services.

Number of 
capacity-building 
workshops 
conducted.

12 Capacity-building 
workshops conducted.

30 Capacity-building workshops 
conducted on Finance and Human 
Resource related matters.

Review 
Departmental 
institutional 
structure.

Phased in implementation 
of a new institutional 
structure.

Following the implementation of the 
Occupation Specific Dispensation 
(OSD), the macro structure and financial 
implications were revisited and in-
principle approval obtained for the new 
structure. Engagements with the unions 
and related parties continue before final 
approval by the Minister.

2.9	 Programme 2:	 Policy Coordination and Environmental Planning

Purpose: 

The aim of the programme is to ensure the integration of environmental objectives in national, provincial 
and local government planning, including provincial growth and development strategies, local economic 
development plans and integrated development plans. The programme includes cross-cutting functions, such 
as research, departmental strategy and information management.

The programme Policy Coordination and Environmental Planning is divided into the following sub-programmes:

2.1.	 Intergovernmental Coordination, Spatial and Development Planning;

2.2.	 Research and Development Support; and

2.3.	 Information Management Services.
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Measurable objectives:

The following measurable objectives applicable to this programme were identified and included in the 2009/10 
Annual Performance Plan of the Department:

•	 To support strategic decision-making and interventions to enhance planning and environmental management.

•	 To implement monitoring measures, policies and programmes for environmental protection.

•	 To provide strategic direction with regard to land-use management.

•	 To develop and implement spatial development measures to promote sustainable development.

Service delivery objectives and indicators: 

Sub-programme 2.1: Intergovernmental Coordination, Spatial and Development 
Planning

•	 The 2009/10 Annual Performance Plan deliverables included the approval and implementation of Acts and 
its associated regulations. In respect of the proposed Biosphere Reserve Act and regulations, the Cabinet, in 
September 2009, gave approval to advertise the Bill for public comment. After the advertising period closed 
on 29 November 2009, all comments received on the Draft Biosphere Reserve Bill were considered and the 
Bill was amended accordingly. Subsequently the amended Draft Biosphere Reserve Bill was submitted to the 
Provincial Legal Services for final certification. Progress with regard to the drafting of the Biosphere Reserve Act 
was hindered by changes in the Executive Authority that the Department experienced over the last two years. 
The support of the Executive Authority was crucial to facilitate the legislative process.

•	 A Provincial Planning and Development Act (PDA) was approved in 1999. Two sections of the mentioned 
Act were implemented to facilitate the establishment of a Planning Review Board. At that stage, certain 
national legislation was promulgated (Local Government Systems and Structures Act) which necessitated 
the amendment of the approved PDA. A PDA Amendment Bill was compiled in 2002/03 and submitted to 
the Executive Authority. In 2004 the Executive Authority decided not to proceed with the PDA amendment 
process. Instead the Executive Authority instructed the Department to embark on a new provincial integrated 
law reform process to integrate planning, environment and heritage requirements into one ideal provincial 
law. A draft Integrated Bill was compiled by March 2007. The implementation of this draft Integrated Bill 
required amendments to National Legislation (environment and heritage). To facilitate this process, the 
Executive Authority indicated that he/she would engage with his/her national counterparts to facilitate 
proposed amendments to National Legislation. Subsequently in 2008, the Executive Authority instructed 
the Department to proceed with the PDA Amendment Bill, but due to certain court judgements and the 
coming into effect of other National Legislation, it was decided to totally redraft the PDA and develop a new 
Provincial Land Use Planning Act (LUPA) to ensure improved alignment with planning and other development 
legislation. A first draft of LUPA was finalised in March 2009. However, a judgement issued by the Supreme 
Court of Appeal suggested that the approach followed in the first draft of LUPA needed to be revisited. To 
promote transparency and openness and to ensure the buy-in of other spheres of government it was decided 
to develop a consensus legal framework, which is constitutionally acceptable, to guide the development of the 
proposed new provincial planning law. A draft Legal Framework for the proposed provincial planning law was 
compiled and discussed with representatives of municipalities and presented during a meeting of the PCF that 
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was attended by the Minister, Mayors and Municipal Managers on 17 March 2010.  All parties needed to submit 
their comments on the framework before 16 April 2010.  

Due to the current effort to reduce red-tape which delays development in the Province, the Land Use Planning 
Ordinance (LUPO) and other legislation were also put under scrutiny and as a result, it became part of the 
provincial modernisation process. 

As a result of the aforementioned, the process of drafting or converting policies into regulations in terms of the 
Planning and Development Act, as required in the 2009/10 Annual Performance Plan, could not yet be initiated 
since the proposed new provincial planning law has not been finalised.  

•	 Although the first draft of the manuals were finalised departmentally in the 2008/09 financial year, the public 
participation process could not proceed before the Provincial Spatial Development Framework (PSDF) was 
approved. Due to the sensitive nature of some of the manuals it was necessary that the Executive Authority 
approve the publication of the manuals for public participation purposes. The approval of the PSDF was 
granted on 24 June 2009. Permission to go out on public participation of the manuals was obtained in 
September 2009. Subsequent to this, the Department advertised the manuals for comment and conducted 
workshops during November/December 2009. The closing date for comments on the manuals was 29 January 
2010. The Department of Agriculture requested that the manual on Rural Land Use Planning and Management 
not be finalised until alignment between the manual and the Provincial Rural Development Strategy has been 
facilitated. Although a draft manual on Inclusionary Housing was produced, it could not be finalised because 
the National Department of Human Settlements has not yet finalised their National framework on Inclusionary 
Housing. The manual on Settlement Restructuring was completed but was not submitted to the Executive 
Authority for approval as the Department considered the approval of all these manuals as a package that 
needed to be approved simultaneously as it forms the backbone of the PSDF.

•	 The Department embarked on the following additional new projects:

-- A process to review and update the Growth Potential Study which was an important informant in the 
drafting of the PSDF. The review of the Growth Potential Study will also be used as an important informant 
of the Provincial Spatial Plan that the Department will embark on in the 2010/11 financial year. 

-- A Biodiversity Fine Scale Plan to cover gap areas within the Province that were not covered by previous 
studies. The purpose of this study is to assist, especially rural municipalities in compiling municipal and 
provincial spatial plans to recognise and protect areas of high biodiversity value within their jurisdiction.

•	 The Department, together with the former Department of Local Government and Housing is responsible for 
the Built Environment Support Program (BESP). In terms of the BESP, the Department of Environmental Affairs 
and Development Planning is responsible for the compilation of six credible municipal Spatial Development 
Frameworks for Knysna, George, Overstrand, Stellenbosch, Drakenstein and Saldanha. A request by the 
Acting Head of Department of Local Government and Housing to expand the project beyond the original 
brief, executive challenges experienced within Stellenbosch, Drakenstein’s request to delay the process and 
Overstrand’s request for an extension due to certain technical investigations, led to delays in the finalisation of 
these SDFs.  Although not finalised, the George, Knysna and Saldanha SDFs are progressing satisfactorily. All six 
SDFs are scheduled to be finalised by the end of October 2010.  Simultaneously, an additional six municipalities 
were identified as part of phase two of the BESP. These municipalities are Bitou, Mossel Bay, Breede Valley, 
Hessequa, Cape Agulhas and Theewaterskloof. 
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Sub-programme 2.2: Research and Development Support

•	 The Department plays a lead role in the Province with regard to environmental monitoring and management. To 
fulfill this role the Department produces an annual Sustainable Development Report to assess the performance 
of the Provincial government against set indicators and targets in maintaining environmental integrity. The 
2008/09 Sustainable Development Report was completed in the latter part of 2009 and the drafting of the 
2009/10 Sustainable Development Report commenced. The finalisation of this report can only take place after 
taking into consideration the relevant performance information of other Provincial departments against the 
set indicators and targets, when available. This document will be finalised during the 2010/11 financial year. 

•	 As part of the drive to promote sustainability, the Department, in partnership with Sustainable Energy 
Africa (SEA), which is funded by the British High Commission, embarked on the Western Cape Clean Energy 
Governance Programme. This programme included the development of the Western Cape White Paper on 
Sustainable Energy. A draft White Paper on Sustainable Energy was compiled and comments were requested 
from Provincial Legal Services, all provincial departments and municipalities. These comments have been 
assessed and where appropriate, integrated into the draft White Paper. Due to rapid developments within 
the renewable energy sector and to ensure and enhance the relevance of this document, the finalisation 
was delayed. The White Paper will be submitted to Provincial Cabinet for in-principle approval and thereafter 
advertised for public comment.  Flowing from the White Paper process, a Western Cape Sustainable Energy Bill 
followed and in-principle approval to draft this Bill was granted by Provincial Cabinet.

•	 In addition to the White Paper, other initiatives to promote the development of sustainable energy in the 
Province have been undertaken in partnership with a number of external partners and service providers.  
Some of the key partnership projects are listed below:

Western Cape Renewable Energy Regional Policy Framework - Partners: ESKOM and funded by Deutsche 
Gesellschaft für Technische Zusammenarbeit (GTZ).

The Department together with the GTZ and ESKOM signed a cooperation agreement with the objective to 
support the creation of a regulatory framework by developing a Regional Regulatory Action Plan (RRAP) which 
includes:

-- identification of the barriers to expand the use of renewable energy, particularly wind energy in the 
Western Cape;

-- identification of needs to meet the provincial renewable energy targets;

-- a process map of the legal requirements for the development of wind farms to expedite the understanding 
of the legal requirements by developers;

-- investigation of financing mechanisms for projects (from both a provincial and development perspective);

-- proactive wind energy planning;

-- proposals for municipalities to include wind energy in their development plans (IDPs and SDFs);
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-- facilitation of negotiations between the National Energy Regulator of South Africa (NERSA) and ESKOM to 
clarify technical, legal and financial areas of uncertainty; 

-- recommendations relating to small scale feed in tariffs to supplement the recently announced, large scale 
feed in tariffs for independent power producers; and

-- a further focus of the project was regional capacity development in wind energy technology and 
integration of wind energy into the national grid.

The following events were held in relation to capacity development:

-- a two–day series of wind energy workshops were held in May 2009 involving a wide range of stakeholders 
in wind energy industry development; and

-- a technical workshop for ESKOM officials in the use of grid planning software was held in June 2009.

The Regional Regulatory Action Plan (RRAP) was presented to stakeholders at the final workshop in November 
2009 and completed in December 2009.  The document was extremely well received by all stakeholders.  It has 
been uploaded to the Wind Action Group website, detailed in the following paragraphs:

-- initialisation of the development of a Renewable Energy Cluster in the Western Cape, consisting of 
thematically differentiated regional Action Groups including the development and launch of a website 
for the distribution of information (http://www.wind-action-groups.com); and

-- compilation of an electricity distribution grid-study to investigate the accommodation of 2800 megawatts 
from wind energy sources based on the current wind energy applications to ESKOM. The study was 
completed and the final report was presented to stakeholders at the final workshop in November 2009 
and also published on the website in December 2009.  Arising from this initiative the National Department 
of Energy is now undertaking further grid studies elsewhere in the country.

•	 The Province is required in terms of the National Environmental Management Act (NEMA) to report to the 
National Department of Environmental Affairs (DEA) on environmentally related activities undertaken by 
the Provincial Government to enable the DEA to exercise a co-coordinating function between Provincial 
Governments and National departments. The statutory required report is the provincial Environmental 
Implementation Plan (EIP). A new edition of the EIP is required every fourth year and every other year DEA 
requires a revision of the current edition. The 2008/09 (first) review of the Second Edition EIP was submitted to 
the National Department of Environmental Affairs during the reporting period. The 2009/10 (second) review 
of the Second Edition is in progress and in terms of NEMA will be submitted to DEA within four months of the 
end of the 2009/10 financial year.

•	 Four internationally recognised environmental days were celebrated during the 2009/10 financial year i.e. 
World Environment Day, Arbour Day, Habitat Day and Wetlands Day. World Environment Day was celebrated in 
Prince Albert in conjunction with the Municipality. More than 300 children and senior officials of government 
departments in the town attended and a presentation on Climate Change was also communicated.  Arbour 
Day was celebrated in conjunction with the Mossel Bay Municipality.  More than 300 children from local 
schools attended the event that was accompanied by a tree planting ceremony in a public space close to the 



28

P
E

R
F

O
R

M
A

N
C

E
P r o g ra m m e

historical Post Office tree.  World Habitat Day was celebrated through participation in a coastal clean-up event 
hosted by the Eden District Municipality.  World Wetlands day was celebrated at Rietenbosch Primary School in 
Stellenbosch.  The event involved the launch of a rehabilitation programme, partly funded by the Department, 
of a degraded wetland on the school premises and an art competition communicating the value of wetlands.

Sub-programme 2.3: Information Management Services

•	 The Department continued with the deployment of the web-enabled GIS on the network and performed 
functionality refinement and testing. However, increased demand for GIS services required further maintenance, 
enhancement and skills transfer and an additional GIS file server was acquired to optimise system performance 
and create more storing space. The new GIS server was installed and the migration process from the current 
GIS server to the new GIS server has to be undertaken. Four internal information sharing/training sessions were 
held to transfer knowledge to staff members. 

•	 GIS awareness was identified as another crucial intervention and 13 awareness sessions/events were held. 
School learners were targeted and nine secondary schools were visited and exposed by means of practical GIS 
sessions. In this process 49 teachers and 1356 learners were reached.
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Service delivery achievements: 

Sub-Programme
Outputs Output Performance 

Measures/Service 
Delivery Indicators

Actual Performance against Target

Target Actual
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To render sound 
Western Cape 
Provincial Spatial 
Development 
Framework (WC 
PSDF) related 
capacity-building 
services.

Number of capacity-
building workshops 
conducted.

Conduct six capacity-
building workshops 
on the Western 
Cape Provincial 
Spatial Development 
Framework. 

Conduct six capacity-
building workshops 
on the Settlement 
Restructuring, 
Rural Planning 
and Management 
Guideline, SDF 
Guideline, Inclusionary 
Housing (Voluntary) 
Manual.

12 Capacity-building workshops 
were conducted on the PSDF and the 
manuals on Settlement Restructuring, 
Rural Planning and Management and 
Inclusionary Housing.

Amounts transferred 
to Biosphere Reserve 
Committees versus 
budget allocated (%).

Transfer 100% of 
allocated amounts. 
 
 
 

Monitor and report on 
utilisation of previously 
allocated funds.

100% of the allocated funds for 
Biosphere Reserves were transferred 
(R314 000 to the Cape West Coast 
Biosphere Reserve (CWCBR) and  
R200 000 to the Kogelberg Biosphere 
Reserve (KBR)).

Business Plans for the CWCBR and 
KBR were approved and payments 
in respect of the funds were 
approved. An additional R120 000 
was provided to the Western Cape 
Nature Conservation Board to support 
an application to UNESCO for the 
registration of the Gouritz Biosphere 
Reserve.

The Department monitored the 
spending of both current and 
historical funds of the Biosphere 
Reserves on a monthly basis.

To ensure a 
sound regulatory 
framework.

(Legislative and 
policy instruments).

New legislative 
instrument milestones 
met versus planned.

Approve Biosphere 
Reserve Act 
Regulations.

Approval and 
implementation of the 
Biosphere Reserve Act.

Develop Regulations 
with regard to 
specific functional 
areas as required 
by the Planning 
and Development 
Amendment Act 
(PDA) to facilitate 
implementation.

The Biosphere Reserve Act and its 
regulations have not been approved 
or implemented, but a draft Biosphere 
Reserve Bill was completed.

Due to the change in the approach 
to the development of the provincial 
planning law, the Department could 
not proceed with the compilation of 
regulations in terms of the PDA as 
required.

Finalise, promulgate 
and implement 
Western Cape Planning 
and Development 
Amendment Act 
(WCPDA). 

The Planning and Development 
Amendment Act has not been 
finalised. A change in the approach 
to provincial planning legislation 
was necessitated by changing 
circumstances and as a result a first 
draft legal framework was compiled 
to guide the development of 
legislation. 
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To ensure a 
sound regulatory 
framework.

(Legislative and 
policy instruments).

New legislative 
instrument milestones 
met versus planned.

Finalise and implement 
regulations specifically 
for the administrative 
roll-out as required 
by the Western 
Cape Planning 
and Development 
Amendment Act.

Due to the change in the approach 
to the development of the provincial 
planning law, the Department could 
not proceed with the regulations.

New policy instrument 
milestones met versus 
planned (%).

Finalise policy 
instruments initiated 
in the previous year 
and convert into 
Regulations in terms 
of the Planning 
and Development 
Amendment Act (PDA). 
 
 
 
 

Develop two Provincial 
Spatial Development 
Framework-based 
and/or other spatial 
planning policy 
aspects.

The conversion of policy instruments 
into regulations in terms of the 
Western Cape Planning and 
Development Act could not be 
finalised due to a change in the 
approach to provincial planning 
legislation.

Final draft of the Climate Change 
Guidelines for the Western Cape: 
Climate Change Adaptation and 
Mitigation considerations were 
completed.

A final draft Spatial Development 
Framework (SDF) guideline document 
was developed but finalisation was 
delayed due to the interpretation of 
constitutional competencies with 
regard to planning.

The Department initiated the Review 
of the Growth Potential Study which 
was one of the informants of the 
PSDF.

The Department embarked on a 
Biodiversity Fine Scale planning 
project in support of municipal and 
provincial spatial plans.

To provide a 
development 
facilitation 
advisory service 
to municipalities 
and other Western 
Cape provincial 
government 
departments.

Number of 
development 
facilitation advisory 
services provided 
versus requested (n).

100% Functional 
Development 
Facilitation Unit (DFU).

Complete 
operationalisation 
of the Development 
Facilitation Unit.

The Development Facilitation 
Unit (DFU) is fully operational and 
adequately responded to all requests 
(more than 100 requests received 
during the year) for development 
facilitation advisory services (advice 
and support) received from the 
Western Cape municipalities and 
State departments (Planning and 
Environmental policy, legislative and 
project related advice and support).

Undertook capacity-building on 
environmental and planning matters 
with more than 20 external capacity-
building workshops which included 
municipalities in the different districts.

Actively participated in the Annual 
Municipal Integrated Development 
Plan (IDP) review process (with all 
30 IDPs reviewed) as well as with 
the Local Government Turnaround 
Strategy (TAS).
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To provide a 
development 
facilitation 
advisory service 
to municipalities 
and other Western 
Cape provincial 
government 
departments.

Integrated 
Development Plans 
(IDPs) reviewed for 
environmental content 
and compliance 
with the Western 
Cape Provincial 
Spatial Development 
Framework (WCPSDF) 
versus requests 
received (%).

Review Integrated 
Development Plans and 
Spatial Development 
Frameworks 
(SDFs) received for 
environmental content 
and compliance 
with the Western 
Cape Provincial 
Spatial Development 
Framework as part 
of the Integrated 
Development Plan 
assessment process.

Two IDPs that were submitted for 
review were finalised.

Evaluation of 
development 
applications in terms 
of the Western Cape 
Provincial Spatial 
Development 
Framework and related 
spatial policies versus 
requests received (%).

Evaluation of 
development 
applications in terms 
of the Western Cape 
Provincial Spatial 
Development 
Framework and related 
spatial policies.

A total number of 40 applications 
(including Guide Plan amendments 
and environmental applications) were 
evaluated in terms of their alignment 
with the PSDF and other related 
spatial policies. In addition, comments 
were provided on Municipal SDFs or 
elements of it as requested.

Municipal Spatial 
Development 
Frameworks developed 
in terms of the Built 
Environment Support 
Programme (BESP) (n).

Manage the drafting 
and compilation of 
six credible Spatial 
Development 
Frameworks in terms of 
the Built Environment 
Support Programme.

The development of the six SDFs 
in terms of the BESP could not be 
finalised due to the expansion of the 
project beyond the original brief and 
in some instances certain technical 
investigations. Although not finalised, 
the George, Knysna and Saldanha 
SDFs are progressing satisfactorily. All 
six SDFs are scheduled to be finalised 
by the end of October 2010. 

The Terms of Reference for the Second 
Round of the BESP was advertised in 
February 2010 and a briefing session 
has taken place.
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To coordinate the 
implementation 
of the Sustainable 
Development 
Implementation Plan 
(SDIP).

Sustainable 
Development 
Implementation Plan 
targets implemented.

Report on the 
implementation 
of the Sustainable 
Development 
Implementation Plan 
targets.

The 2008/09 Sustainable 
Development Report was completed 
in the latter part of 2009 and the 
drafting of the 2009/10 Sustainable 
Development Report commenced. 
The finalisation of this report can 
only take place after considering the 
relevant performance information of 
other provincial departments against 
the set indicators and targets, when 
available. This document will be 
finalised during the 2010/11 financial 
year.

Implementation 
of the Sustainable 
Energy Strategy.

Western Cape 
Sustainable Energy 
White Paper 
implemented.

Approval and 
implementation of 
the White Paper on 
Sustainable Energy for 
the Western Cape.

A draft White Paper on Sustainable 
Energy was compiled and comments 
were requested from Provincial 
Legal Services, all Provincial 
departments and municipalities. 
These comments have been assessed 
and where appropriate, integrated 
into the draft White Paper. Due to 
rapid developments within the 
renewable energy sector and to 
ensure and enhance the relevance 
of this document, the finalisation 
was delayed. The White Paper will be 
submitted to Provincial Cabinet for 
in-principle approval and thereafter 
advertised for public comment. 

To promote 
environmental 
awareness.

Number of 
environmental 
awareness raising 
interventions and 
events.

Celebrate four 
environmental events.

Four environmental days were 
celebrated during the 2009/10 
financial year, namely, World 
Environment Day, Arbour Day, Habitat 
Day and Wetlands Day.

Review the 
Environmental 
Implementation Plan 
(EIP). 

Review the 
Environmental 
Implementation Plan.

Submit second 
annual review of 
Environmental 
Implementation Plan.

A 2008/09 (first) review of the 
second Edition EIP was submitted 
to the National Department of 
Environmental Affairs (DEA).  The 
2009/10 (second) review is in progress 
and in terms of NEMA must be 
submitted to DEA within four months 
of the end of the 2009/10 financial 
year.
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To promote the 
use of spatial 
information 
technology 
to support 
environmental 
planning and 
management.

Web-enabled 
Information System 
enhanced and 
maintained.

Enhance and maintain 
web-enabled 
Information System.

The web GIS System functionality and 
data content have been enhanced 
and maintained and the system was 
deployed onto a new GIS server.

Number of Geographic 
Information System 
(GIS) awareness 
initiatives undertaken 
versus planned.

Undertake four 
Geographic 
Information System 
awareness initiatives.

13 GIS awareness sessions/events 
were held and participated in, which 
included the following: 

•	 two GISSA GIS week events;

•	 one Departmental GIS day event;

•	 one Public Service week 
celebration; and

•	 nine Secondary schools visited.
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2.10	 Programme 3:	 Compliance and Enforcement

Purpose:

The aim of the programme is to ensure that environmental compliance monitoring systems are established 
and implemented, to enforce legislation and environmental authorisations, build compliance monitoring and 
enforcement capacity through the establishment and training of environmental management inspectorates, 
act on complaints and notifications of environmental infringements and undertake to monitor these complaints 
and enforce environmental compliance where required.

Measurable objective:

To support strategic decision-making and interventions to enhance planning and environmental management.

Service delivery objectives and indicators: 

•	 100% of complaints received from members of the public, referrals from municipalities, government 
departments and directorates within the Department were investigated by the Compliance and Enforcement 
unit. 

•	 Joint inspections have served to strengthen ties between the Department and other organs of state. The 
inspections have further assisted in providing a view of government that is united in its fight to protect the 
environment.

•	 The Environmental Crime Forum was established on 29 June 2009. No further meetings were held due to poor 
attendance by other law enforcement agencies.  
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Service delivery achievements:
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To ensure effective 
environmental 
compliance and 
enforcement of the 
relevant environmental 
legislation.

Percentage of 
complaints investigated 
versus received.

Investigate all 
complaints received 
and act on 70% of 
those that warrant 
further action.

Investigated 207 (100%) 
complaints received.

Of the 207 complaints received, 
118 were resolved during 
investigation and 89 issued 
with warnings of pending legal 
notices.

Non-compliance with the 
legal notice resulted in 47 
Compliance Notices and 
Directives being served.

Number of compliance 
inspections conducted 
per enforcement officer 
per year.

28 Compliance 
inspections conducted 
per enforcement officer 
per year.

On average 35 compliance 
inspections per enforcement 
officer were conducted resulting 
from a vacancy rate of 30% over 
a period of six months.

Number of monitoring 
exercises: 245.

Conduct cooperative 
government 
compliance and 
enforcement 
operations. 

Number of joint 
enforcement 
operations.

16 Joint compliance 
and enforcement 
investigations.

Number of joint operations 
with DEA, CapeNature, 
Municipalities, DWAF and Metro 
Police: 26

To build environmental 
compliance and 
enforcement capacity.

Number of skills 
interventions

Conduct four internal/
external capacity-
building workshops.

Conducted three internal/
external capacity-building 
workshops.

To improve cooperation 
between environmental 
compliance and 
enforcement regulatory 
bodies.

Western Cape 
Environmental Crime 
networking and 
skills-sharing forum 
established and 
operational.

Conduct quarterly 
meetings.

Conducted one quarterly 
meeting to improve 
cooperation between 
environmental compliance and 
enforcement regulatory bodies.
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2.11	 Programme 4:	 Environmental Quality Management

Purpose: 

The aim of the programme is to develop legislation, policies, norms, standards and guidelines for environmental 
impact management, air quality management, climate change management and management of waste and 
pollution at provincial and local spheres of government.

The programme Environmental Quality Management comprises of the following sub-programmes:

4.1: Impact Management;

4.2: Air Quality Management;

4.3: Climate Change Management; and

4.4: Pollution and Waste Management.

Measurable objectives:

The measurable objectives relevant to the mentioned sub-programmes and as included in the 2009/10 Annual 
Performance Plan are as follows:

•	 To support strategic decision-making and intervention to enhance environmental management.

•	 To implement monitoring measures, policies and programmes for environmental protection.

•	 To render sound land-use management support services.

•	 To ensure sound processes for monitoring the effectiveness of land-use management.

•	 To facilitate and support strategic state interventions to enhance service delivery.

•	 To develop programmes aimed at clean, healthy and improved human settlements.

•	 To ensure sound land-use regulatory services.

•	 To unlock opportunities and potential for growth in the environmental sector.

•	 To develop and implement programmes that promote access to, and sustainable utilisation of, natural 
resources.  
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Service delivery objectives and indicators: 

Sub-programme 4.1: Impact Management

•	 During the 2009/10 financial year six capacity-building workshops on the amendments to National 
Environmental Management Act (NEMA) and on the NEMA EIA regulations were hosted. These included the 
hosting of two internal, two with IAIA, one with West Coast District Municipality, and one with Eden District 
Municipality, capacity-building workshops.

•	 286 Environmental authorisations were monitored for compliance to conditions of authorisation which 
exceeded the target of 160 as included in the 2009/10 Annual Performance Plan.

•	 During 2009/10, the sub-programme developed one new and reviewed two departmental guideline 
documents on public participation, transitional arrangements, appeals, alternatives and exemptions, Need 
and Desirability in terms of the implementation of the NEMA EIA Regulations.

•	 The sub-programme initiated the Saldanha Bay Environmental Management Framework (EMF) and completed 
the development of the Drakenstein Environmental Management Framework (EMF). The approval of all EMFs 
are dependent on the promulgation of the amended NEMA EIA Regulations which have not yet come into 
effect, hence the approval of the EMFs could not happen.

•	 On 1 April 2009, 1981 active environmental applications were pending within the Department. In terms of the 
applicable legislation with regard to Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA), the sub-programme received 
786 EIA applications during the 2009/10 financial year. As such the total number of applications within the 
Department was 2767. During the past year the Department finalised 1013 applications. As at 31 March 2010 
the Department had 1754 current applications pending of which the Department was able to respond to 
approximately 350 (20% i.e. cases where all information was received). It must however be noted that the 
Department is bound by legislated timeframes as stipulated in the NEMA EIA Regulations.   

•	 On 1 April 2009, 1040 active planning applications were pending within the Department. In terms of the 
applicable legislation with regard to land-use management, the sub-programme received 1159 planning 
applications during the 2009/10 financial year.  As such the total number of applications within the Department 
was 2199. During the past year the Department finalised 1109 applications. As at 31 March 2010 the Department 
had 1090 current applications pending of which the Department was able to respond to approximately 270 
(25% i.e. cases where all information was received). 

Sub-programme 4.2: Air Quality Management

•	 The Provincial Air Quality Management Plan (AQMP) was finalised, printed and announced at the 
2Precious2Pollute programme ceremony with industry leaders, cabinet members, standing committee 
members, mayors and other municipal representatives. Four public participation and three sector workshops 
were held as part of the public participation process, while regular Project Steering and Technical Committee 
meetings were held. A Status Quo Report on Air Quality Management in the Western Cape was also produced. 
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•	 The monitoring of ambient air quality took place in Mossel Bay, Vredenburg and Paarl for a period of one year. 
Monthly reports on the data were produced. After the one year period, the monitoring stations were relocated, 
as planned, from Paarl to Worcester, from Vredenburg to Malmesbury and from Mossel Bay to George. A fourth 
monitoring station was also commissioned and began operating in Maitland, City of Cape Town. Measures for 
the installation of safety railings on three monitoring stations were initiated.

•	 Atmospheric Emission Licensing (AEL) training was undertaken with municipal officials from the Cape 
Winelands and Overberg District Municipalities, in preparation for the District Municipalities fulfilling the role 
of issuing AELs. 

•	 Three Air Quality Officer’s Forum (AQOF) meetings were conducted in the Province, while two special meetings 
of the AQOF were held to discuss the relationship between the AEL process and the EIA process, as well as to 
discuss and provide comment to the National Department of Environmental Affairs on the National Ambient 
Air Quality Standards, draft Regulations and the AEL application form. 

Sub-programme 4.3 : Climate Change Management

•	 The Climate Change Workstream Committee (CCWC) that was established was not functioning due to a lack of 
cooperation by other departments. The Department investigated an alternative governance structure but this 
process was overtaken by the provincial modernisation initiative and development of a new strategic direction 
and governance structures. In the interim, the Department continued to work on a variety of projects with 
other departments to implement the Climate Change Strategy and Action Plan. 

•	 Good progress has been made with the development of the Monitoring and Evaluation (M&E) system to 
measure implementation of the Climate Change Response Strategy and Action Plan. This project was initiated 
in order to identify key indices of climate change response by provincial departments and municipalities and 
monitor the progressive mitigation and adaptation response activities of those organs of state into the future.  
The Department has reviewed a draft M&E System Report and data capture sheets. The M&E system was not 
completed during the financial year due to limited departmental capacity.

•	 Energy audits of six provincial buildings were undertaken in the 2008/09 financial year. During the current 
reporting period the audits and recommendations were submitted to the Department of Transport and Public 
Works with a view to the implementation of the technological aspects of energy management and efficiency 
in the buildings. A one-year contract position to advise on energy efficiency matters has been filled in the 
Department and building retro-fitting targets have been set in the Strategic Case dealing with Sustainability 
and Resource Efficiency.

•	 In August/September 2009 a 10-day environmental and climate change programme was presented to 43 
teachers in partnership with the City of Cape Town and the provincial Education Department.  The programme 
was accredited by the provincial Department of Education and educators that attended received formal 
training recognition by their department. 
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•	 The Department met with officials from the Department of Local Government and Housing regarding the 
training of Community Development Workers. Subsequently, the following training and capacity-building 
workshops on green and sustainable living were hosted during the 2009/10 financial year:

-- Mitchell’s Plain (Metro North 2): 90 community members were trained;

-- Riversdale (Hessequa Municipality): 60 people attended including 20 learners from Panorama Primary 
neighbouring night school; and

-- Eerste River (Metro North 1): 60 people from various community networks and youth were trained.

The training workshops in Riversdale and Eerste River were concluded by planting indigenous trees donated 
by SA National Biodiversity Institute (SANBI). 

A training project for the hospitality sector was launched at the first training session hosted by the Westin 
Grand Hotel adjacent to the Cape Town International Convention Centre that was also represented by their 
CEO.  Subsequently about 130 people from about 30 institutions attended these training sessions.  This project, 
particularly the launch, received excellent media coverage. 

Climate Change workshops were arranged in conjunction with South African Local Government Association 
(SALGA); in Caledon, George and Worcester.  Although the invitation was widely distributed very few people 
attended. This could be attributed to low levels of awareness in the rural areas. Further workshops are planned 
to inform local and provincial politicians and senior government officials to promote the mainstreaming of 
climate change mitigation and adaptation programmes in provincial and local government. 

•	 638 Solar water geysers were rolled out in various needy communities to stimulate the solar geyser industry 
in the Western Cape. Geysers were installed in Prince Albert (100), Oudtshoorn (100) and Mossel Bay (138).  
Unfortunately as a result of the delay in construction of the housing units, 118 units must still be installed 
in Mossel Bay to complete the project. This total included the installation of 300 solar geysers in Darling 
(Swartland Municipality) which was jointly funded by the Danish Aid organisation, DANIDA, as part of the 2010 
World Cup Soccer carbon off-set programme.

The Department originally planned to train 240 unemployed persons, mainly from the recipient communities 
in fabrication and installation of solar water heating systems.  In the 2009/10 financial year, the remaining 183 
unemployed persons were trained to reach the target. In completion of the Darling project another 14 people 
were trained of which eight were employed on a full-time basis for the duration of the project.  

•	 The Department initiated a project to determine the Sea Level Rise Risk assessment for the Eden District 
coastline. Draft Status and Modelling reports were provided while the final reports and digital maps need to 
be finalised. Similar studies for the remainder of the provincial coastline are planned to be undertaken in the 
current and subsequent financial years.
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Sub-programme 4.4: Pollution and Waste Management

•	 The Department initiated a Provincial Programme of Action for Protection of the Marine Environment 
from land-based activities that supports the National Programme of Action, which forms part of the UNEP 
Global Programme of Action for the Protection of the Marine Environment from land-based activities. 
Estuaries were selected as the focus because of their important conservation, social and commercial value.  
An intergovernmental task team was formed and discussions on the rationale for prioritising actions and 
to guide initial work were held. A draft Provincial Action Plan was developed, which included a status quo 
and prioritisation matrix of the estuaries in the Province. Initial work was undertaken to assess the Diep River 
estuary for levels of metal accumulation in sediments and biota.

•	 In terms of the water use efficiency project, the schools that were retrofitted with water efficient fittings during 
2008/2009 were monitored throughout the year and the per capita savings calculated.  The results obtained 
were variable. The results were presented to the Department of Transport and Public Works for consideration 
in new school developments and were positively received. The Department was invited to participate with the 
Department of Transport and Public Works and the Department of Education in regular planning meetings 
regarding the maintenance of existing and development of new education infrastructure in the Province.  

•	 A Quick Reference Guide on Chemicals Management was produced and distributed. The aim of the Quick 
Reference Guide on Chemicals Management is to assist companies with information on storing and handling 
hazardous chemicals responsibly to reduce chemical accidents and spills. The programme also facilitated 
responsible chemicals management in companies in the Consumer-formulated Goods, Metal Finishing and 
Drum Reconditioning sectors. Twenty-two (22) companies were trained to produce their own Chemicals 
Management Action Plans.  As participation in this programme is voluntary, only three companies submitted 
completed plans. These were assessed and recommendations were made to these companies.  

•	 The 2Precious2Pollute programme was launched to the broader public, industry and other spheres of 
Government with the purpose of raising awareness on pollution prevention, pollution reduction and resource 
efficiency. Under this programme, various fact-sheets on the different aspects of pollution management were 
developed for distribution. At the launch, responsible chemicals management in industry was recognised and 
promoted and the development of a provincial Air Quality Management Plan was announced. 

•	 Two workshops were held with district municipalities regarding the implementation of Section 30 of NEMA 
that deals with emergency incidents.  The first workshop reviewed the legislated actions with regard to both 
monitoring, management and reporting of emergency incidents. The second workshop provided specialised 
training on spill response measures to assist the disaster management officials to understand the risks of 
dealing with hazardous substances and respond appropriately. A previous developed Memorandum of 
Understanding (MOU) on the role of Province and of District Municipalities was amended and discussed for 
refinement. The revised MOU was verified by Provincial Legal Services before finalisation. The MOU will be 
forwarded for signature by the District Municipalities during the 2010/11 financial year.  

•	 47 Cases of remediation of contaminated land were evaluated and remediation options determined in terms of 
Section 28 of NEMA.  As there are no clear national guidelines on remediation, this has been challenging.  Initial 
discussions were held to draft provincial guidelines, but this was superseded by the development of national 
guidelines. The Department actively participated in the formulation of the draft Remediation framework 
guideline.  
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•	 The work to finalise the revision of the Provincial Noise Control Regulations (PN 627/1998) was delayed after 
submission to Provincial Legal Services for final verification. Only at this late stage of the process, Provincial 
Legal Services raised concerns on the constitutionality of the Regulations, which was contrary to their initial 
opinion. The Department requested an external legal opinion to verify this opinion. If upheld, the revised 
Regulations cannot be promulgated without substantial amendment or possible further enactment of 
framework legislation. For this reason, the promulgation as envisaged in the 2009/10 financial year was not 
achieved. 

•	 The waste management licensing function for general waste was assigned to provinces as from 1 July 2009 
in terms of the National Environmental Management: Waste Act (Act No. 59 of 2008) and the listed waste 
management activities in terms of Schedule 1 to the Waste Act and came into effect on 3 July 2009. The 
waste management licensing (previously known as permitting in terms of ECA) system was incrementally 
implemented during the financial year, with the administrative licensing processes established and staffing of 
the component. Seventeen (17) of the 125 (i.e. 13.6%) authorised waste management facilities were monitored 
for compliance and eight residents monitoring committees were attended as part of the compliance monitoring 
function (i.e. target of 5%). In order to build the capacity of municipal landfill operators and improve the 
management of landfills, a training manual was developed and three training sessions were conducted to 
provide them with the necessary technical knowledge to manage waste management facilities effectively.

•	 The Western Cape Health Care Waste Management Act (HCWMA) (Act No. 7 of 2007) and regulations could not 
be implemented due to alignment with the NEMA: Waste Act that commenced on 1 July 2009. The drafting of 
the amendment to the HCWMA commenced and the Draft Health Care Waste Management Amendment Bill 
was published in the Government Gazette for public comment. Comments on the draft were processed and the 
Health Care Waste Management Amendment Bill was certified by Provincial Legal Services and is currently in 
the parliamentary process. The regulations are in the process of being vetted by Provincial Legal Services. This 
process also impacted on the registration of Health Care Waste generators, treaters, transporters and disposers.  

•	 The Waste Management in Education (WAME) programme was rolled out to 25 foundation phase educators 
from schools in the Matzikama area in conjunction with the Matzikama Municipality. A Monitoring and 
Evaluation (M&E) report was finalised after conducting a survey amongst all schools that participated in the 
WAME programme since its inception to ascertain the impact thereof. While the programme was well received 
by educators, a support plan is needed to ensure that resources and knowledge is transferred at school level to 
fellow educators and that the programme is sustained through the support of this Department, the Education 
Department, municipal and industry initiatives.

•	 The Provincial round of the National Cleanest Town Competition was concluded and an awards ceremony was 
held on 26 November 2009 to celebrate the provincial winners. Overstrand, George, Swartland, Witzenberg and 
Eden District Municipalities were awarded for their achievements. The aim of the competition is to promote 
improvements in integrated waste management in the Province. Payment of prize monies was carried over 
into the new financial year.

•	 Significant progress was made with the finalisation and translation of a draft Green Paper on a Green 
Procurement Policy after obtaining comments from the reference group that comprised of the Department 
of the Premier: Legal Services and Policy Coordination components, Provincial Treasury, the Department 
of Economic Development and Tourism and the Department of Environmental Affairs and Development 
Planning. Delays in the submission of these comments from key stakeholders created delays in the policy 
drafting phase. A memorandum was submitted to obtain approval from the Provincial Cabinet to publish 
the Green Procurement Policy as a Green Paper for public comment. A draft implementation plan has been 
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developed and will be presented to stakeholders for comment during the policy development process in the 
new financial year.

•	 The 2Wise2Waste programme, an environmental efficiency programme, was marketed to the Department of 
the Premier, Provincial Parliament, Premier’s official residence, Community Safety, Economic Development and 
Tourism, Provincial Treasury and CapeNature.  Regular meetings with floor- and departmental champions were 
conducted to ensure the successful roll-out of the programme. Assistance was also provided to departments 
on request to facilitate implementation of the programme. A survey was conducted to gauge the impact of the 
implementation of the programme. Three training workshops were conducted with cleaning contractors in the 
provincial administration. There is general awareness of the environment, however, only a small percentage 
of employees engage in environmental friendly practices at the office. The successful implementation of the 
programme rests on the availability of committed departmental champions to drive the programme with the 
support of management.

•	 External promotion of the 2Wise2Waste programme was presented to municipalities and the general public.  
The Recycled Products Catalogue used to stimulate the demand and supply of recycled products was updated, 
printed and distributed to the public. The “Buy Recycled Products” campaign under the auspices of the 
programme was held at the Cape Gate Shopping Centre, which provided a platform for SMMEs to market their 
recycled products to the public and to facilitate awareness of recycling amongst the general public.

•	 A Waste Minimisation Summit was hosted on 3–4 March 2010 and attended by 300 stakeholders that provided 
a platform to shape actions pertaining to waste minimisation that will form part of the Western Cape Integrated 
Waste Management Plan. Seven (7) commissions covering pertinent aspects related to waste minimisation 
delivered the final outcomes of the summit.  The summit also provided exhibition space that showcased waste 
minimisation technologies and products.

•	 An additional four municipalities took part in the pilot of the M&E system for Integrated Waste Management 
Plans (IWMPs) to test factors that could hamper full-scale implementation. Through the Department’s co-
operative and supportive relationship with municipalities and their contribution to the initial development 
of the M&E indicators, this target was exceeded. Completion of reports on a quarterly basis against a set of 
performance indictors will facilitate the Department’s assessment on the implementation of municipal IWMPs.

•	 The development of industry waste management plans for the Consumer Formulated Chemical Sector (CFCS) 
was facilitated by developing a template, assessment criteria, reviewing the existing generic guideline and 
conducting targeted audits to inform the development process of plans. A workshop was conducted with 
industry representatives to discuss the development and assessment criteria and the audit findings. As this is 
a voluntary process, the industries partaking in the audits were requested to develop and submit their plans 
for assessment. 
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Service delivery achievements:

Sub-programme 
Outputs Output Performance 

Measures/Service 
Delivery Indicators

Actual Performance against Target

Target Actual
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To improve land-
use management 
practices of 
stakeholders.

Number of capacity-
building workshops 
conducted versus 
planned.

Plan and conduct six 
capacity-building 
workshops on the 
Amended National 
Environmental 
Management Act 
Environmental Impact 
Assessment Regulations.

Six capacity-building workshops 
were conducted for the year.

To render sound 
advisory services 
for land-use 
management.

Land-use applications 
accepted on first 
submission versus total 
applications received 
(%).

Monitor the quality of 
applications for acceptance 
on first submission.

Received 786 environmental 
applications of which 777 
(98.9 %) were accepted on first 
submission.

Received 1159 planning 
applications of which 1145 
(98.8 %) were accepted on first 
submission.

Requests for planning 
information responded 
to versus received (%).

Respond to 75% of 
requests by Regulatory 
Authorities and other 
external stakeholders for 
planning advice in terms of 
legal requirements.

104 Requests received and 111 
finalised (includes requests from 
previous year).

Two planning requests for 
information were pending.

Requests for 
environmental 
information responded 
to versus received (%).

Respond to 70% of 
requests by Regulatory 
Authorities and other 
external stakeholders 
for environmental 
advice in terms of legal 
requirements.

563 Requests received and 538 
finalised.

613 Environmental requests for 
information were pending.

To ensure a 
sound regulatory 
framework

(Legislative and 
policy instruments).

New or review existing 
policy instruments 
milestones met versus 
planned (%).

Develop one new 
Environmental 
Management Framework 
(EMF).

Initiated Saldanha Bay EMF and 
could not finalise Drakenstein 
EMF due to the NEMA EIA 
Amendment Regulations not 
being promulgated.

Gazette the approved 
Western Cape Biodiversity 
offsets guideline.

The Western Cape Biodiversity 
offsets guideline will be 
gazetted and approved after the 
promulgation of the amended 
NEMA EIA Regulations.

Compile a Provincial 
guideline on development 
parameters.

The draft Manual on 
Development Parameters was 
circulated in March 2010 to all 
municipalities and stakeholders 
for comment.

Existing policy 
instruments reviewed/
amended versus 
planned.

Align existing policy 
instruments to current 
development paradigms 
and legislations.

Reviewed, amended and 
circulated the amended 
Departmental guidelines on 
public participation, transitional 
arrangements, appeals, 
alternatives and exemptions, 
Need and Desirability in terms of 
the implementation of the NEMA 
EIA Regulations.

Review all relevant 
Departmental guidelines, 
application forms and 
templates in order 
to accommodate the 
amendments to the NEMA 
EIA regulations.

Reviewed the Environmental 
Impact Assessment regulations 
application forms and templates 
and developed the NEM: Waste 
Act Application forms, templates 
and circulars for implementation.
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Sub-Programme 
Outputs Output Performance 

Measures/Service 
Delivery Indicators

Actual performance Against Target

Target Actual
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To ensure sound 
regulatory control 
(Planning and 
Environment).

Percentage of 
environmental and 
planning applications 
finalised versus 
received.

70% Pending and new 
environmental and 
planning applications 
finalised.

During this financial year, 2122 
environmental and planning 
applications were finalised 
and 1586 planning and 
environmental authorisations 
were issued. During the same 
period 1945 new environmental 
and planning applications 
were received. On 31 March 
2010, 2844 environmental and 
planning applications were 
pending.

Percentage of 
environmental 
applications processed 
within legislated 
timeframes.

85% Environmental 
applications processed 
within legislated 
timeframes.

The Department managed 
to meet the EIA legislated 
timeframes for approximately 
90% of environmental 
applications.

Average duration 
of Environmental 
Impact Assessment 
(EIA) processes for 
applications finalised.

Monitor the 
average duration 
of environmental 
applications.

The average duration of an 
application from the date of 
submission of the application 
to the date of issue of the 
environmental authorisation is 
16 months.

To ensure a sound 
regulatory framework

(Legislative and policy 
instruments).

Percentage of pending 
and new environmental 
appeals processed 
versus received.

75% Pending and new 
environmental appeals 
finalised.

At 1 April 2009, the Department 
was in possession of 30 
environmental appeals. During 
the 2009/10 financial year, 36 
new environmental appeals 
were received and 32 (48%) 
environmental appeals were 
finalised by the Minister. 
Pending environmental appeals 
at 31 March 2010 were 34.

Compliance monitoring 
of environmental 
authorisations.

Monitor 160 
environmental 
authorisations.

Monitored 286 environmental 
authorisations for compliance 
with conditions of authorisation.
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Service delivery achievements:

Sub-Programme 
Outputs Output Performance 

Measures/Service 
Delivery Indicators

Actual Performance against Target

Target Actual

Su
b-

pr
og

ra
m

m
e 

4.
2:

 A
ir 

Q
ua

lit
y 

M
an

ag
em

en
t

To promote 
sound air quality 
management.

Incremental 
implementation of Air 
Quality Management 
System.

Finalise and implement 
the Air Quality 
Management Plan 
and implement the 
National Environmental 
Management Air Quality 
Act. 

Finalised the Air Quality 
Management Plan (AQMP) 
and announced the Plan at the 
2Precious2Pollute programme 
ceremony.

Quarterly reports and 
air quality officers forum 
meetings on emissions 
inventory, ambient air 
quality monitoring and 
implementation of air 
quality management in 
the Province.

Four public participation and 
three sector workshops were held 
as part of the public participation 
process, while regular Project 
Steering and Technical Committee 
meetings were held.

Provide input and 
assistance into Air 
Pollution Prevention 
Act and National 
Environmental 
Management Air Quality 
Act applications within 
the Province.

Produced quarterly reports on the 
Ambient Air Quality Management 
System: emission inventory, 
ambient air quality monitoring 
and AQMP.

Capacity-building 
workshop on the 
implementation of the 
Air Quality Act with 
Municipalities.

Monitored ambient air quality 
in Mossel Bay, Vredenburg and 
Paarl for a period of one year. 
Monthly reports on the data were 
produced. 

Relocated the Paarl monitoring 
station to Worcester, the 
Vredenburg monitoring station to 
Malmesbury and the Mossel Bay 
monitoring station to George.

Procured, commissioned and 
began operating a fourth ambient 
air quality monitoring station, 
which was located in Maitland, 
City of Cape Town. Initiated 
measures for the installation of 
safety railings on three monitoring 
stations.

The emissions inventory was 
updated to include various mobile 
sources and conducted desktop 
research into emissions inventory 
software.

Conducted three Air Quality 
Officer’s Forum (AQOF) meetings. 
Arranged and conducted two 
special meetings of the AQOF to 
discuss the relationship between 
the AEL process and the EIA 
process and Ambient Air Quality 
Standards, draft Regulations 
and the AEL application form 
respectively.

Revised four draft Air Pollution 
Prevention Act (APPA) registration 
certificates based on comments 
received by industry concerned.

Conducted two capacity-building 
workshops on the implementation 
of NEM:AQA and on Air Emission 
Licensing and the associated fee 
calculator respectively. 
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Service delivery achievements:

Sub-Programme 
Outputs Output Performance 

Measures/Service 
Delivery Indicators

Actual Performance against Target

Target Actual
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To facilitate the 
implementation of 
the Western Cape 
Climate Change 
Strategy and Action 
Plan.

Annual progress report 
on implementation 
of the Western Cape 
Climate Change 
Response Strategy and 
Action Plan.

Facilitate the functioning 
of the Provincial Climate 
Change Workstream 
and report on the 
implementation of the 
Climate Change Response 
Strategy and Action Plan.

Develop a monitoring and 
evaluation system for the 
Climate Change Response 
implementation.

No workstream meetings were 
held. Way forward regarding 
approach to deal with 
workstreams yet to be clarified.

Progress has been made with the 
development of a Monitoring 
and Evaluation (M&E) system but 
was not completed during the 
financial year. 

Service delivery achievements:

Sub-Programme 
Outputs Output Performance 

Measures/Service 
Delivery Indicators

Actual Performance against Target

Target Actual
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To promote 
sound pollution 
management.

Incremental roll-out of 
chemical management 
programme.

Facilitate responsible 
chemicals management 
in new businesses and 
report on implementation 
in targeted (Consumer-
formulated Goods, Metal 
Finishing and Drum 
Reconditioning) sectors.

22 Companies trained for the 
year as planned.  All Chemicals 
Management Action Plans 
(CMAPs) received were assessed 
and recommendations made 
to companies. 300 Copies of 
the Quick Reference Guides 
were printed and distributed to 
companies that drafted CMAPs.

Monitor and support 
municipalities to 
implement the 
Amended Provincial 
Noise Control 
Regulations.

Facilitate and monitor 
the implementation of 
the approved Amended 
Provincial Noise Control 
Regulations.

System to monitor and 
support implementation 
of Amended Provincial 
Noise Control Regulations 
could not be developed as 
amended Regulations were 
not promulgated. One training 
session on handling noise 
control issues and two Noise 
Control Forums were held with 
municipalities. 

To promote 
resources efficiency 
and pollution 
prevention.

Measures and 
interventions for 
environmental 
resource efficiency 
developed and 
implemented.

Further develop and 
facilitate implementation 
of policy measures 
and interventions for 
environmental resource 
efficiency and pollution 
prevention.

A Provincial Programme of 
Action on Protection of the 
Marine Environment from Land-
based Activities was initiated, 
and a draft Provincial Action 
Plan developed. First action 
completed with a study on the 
Diep River estuary on metal 
accumulation in sediments and 
biota.

The water efficiency of retrofitted 
schools were assessed and 
reported on. The results were 
presented and discussed with 
the Department of Transport and 
Public Works. The Department 
will join the Department of 
Transport and Public Works in 
future planning meetings on 
infrastructure in the Province.

Produced and distributed Quick 
Reference Guide on Chemicals 
Management and various fact-
sheets on aspects of pollution 
management, as undertaken in 
the Department.



46

P
E

R
F

O
R

M
A

N
C

E
P r o g ra m m e

Sub-Programme 
Outputs Output Performance 

Measures/Service 
Delivery Indicators

Actual Performance against Target

Target Actual
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To promote 
resources efficiency 
and pollution 
prevention.

Measures and 
interventions for 
environmental 
resource efficiency 
developed and 
implemented.

Further develop and 
facilitate implementation 
of policy measures 
and interventions for 
environmental resource 
efficiency and pollution 
prevention.

Launched the 2Precious2Pollute 
programme to the broader 
public, industry and other 
spheres of Government, 
to recognise and promote 
responsible chemicals 
management in industry, and 
announce the development 
of a provincial Air Quality 
Management Plan. This included 
raising awareness among 
authorities and industry on 
pollution prevention, pollution 
reduction and resource efficiency.

Identified and developed 
brochures (tools) to reduce 
pollution sources.

To promote sound 
integrated waste 
management.

Incremental 
implementation of 
waste management 
facility permitting 
system.

Monitor permitted waste 
management facilities for 
compliance.

Incremental implementation of 
waste management licensing 
(previously known as facility 
permitting) system. Seventeen 
of the 125 (i.e. 13.6%) authorised 
waste management facilities 
monitored for compliance 
and attended eight residents’ 
monitoring committees as part 
of the compliance monitoring 
function.

Health Care Waste 
Management 
(HCWM) legislation 
implemented.

Facilitate and monitor 
implementation of 
the Health Care Waste 
Management Act and 
regulations.

Cabinet approved publication 
of the draft Health Care Waste 
Management Amendment Bill for 
public comment. 

All comments on the Draft 
HCWM Amendment Bill were 
received and processed. 

The Bill was certified by Provincial 
Legal Services for presentation 
to Cabinet and is currently in 
the parliamentary process to be 
published.

Facilitate the 
incremental 
implementation of 
Integrated Waste 
Management Plans 
(IWMPs).

Implementation of the 
Monitoring and Evaluating 
(M&E) system for Integrated 
Waste Management Plans.

Monitoring and Evaluating 
(M&E) system for IWMP was 
implemented in nine instead of 
five municipalities.

System was piloted in nine 
municipalities to assess the 
system and to identify possible 
problems before roll-out to all 
municipalities.

Compiled a Monitoring and 
Evaluation (M&E) assessment 
report on the first two quarters.

Implementation of the 
Provincial Hazardous Waste 
Management (PHWM) Plan 
with regard to industry 
waste management plans.

Implementation of PHWM by 
facilitating the development of 
industry waste management 
plans in the Consumer 
Formulated Chemical sector by 
conducting targeted audits and a 
waste planning workshop.
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Sub-Programme 
Outputs Output Performance 

Measures/Service 
Delivery Indicators

Actual Performance against Target

Target Actual
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To promote 
integrated 
environmental 
quality 
management.

Functional Integrated 
Pollutant and Waste 
Information System 
(IPWIS).

Further development 
and implementation of 
Integrated Pollutant and 
Waste Information System.

Registration of Health Care Waste 
generators, treaters, transporters 
and disposers was delayed by the 
obligatory amendment of the 
Western Cape Health Care Waste 
Management Act to ensure 
alignment with the new Waste 
Act.

The system was enhanced to 
improve functionality. Bug fixing 
and user testing was conducted 
on the enhanced system.  Data 
on waste management licences 
was captured.

To promote sound 
integrated waste 
management.

Monitoring and 
evaluation report.

Monitor and evaluate 
the Waste Management 
in Education (WAME) 
programme and roll-out to 
30 educators.

A Monitoring and Evaluation 
(M&E) report was drafted on the 
Waste Management in Education 
programme.

A workshop was conducted with 
the 25 out of the 30 educators 
who accepted the invitation, in 
the Matzikama Municipal area.

Provincial round of 
the National Cleanest 
Town Competition 
(CTC) adjudicated.

Adjudicate the 
provincial round of the 
National Cleanest Town 
Competition.

Provincial round of the National 
Cleanest Town Competition (CTC) 
adjudicated. Payment of prize 
monies to winning municipalities 
will happen in the 2010/11 
financial year.

To promote 
integrated 
environmental 
quality 
management.

Measures and 
interventions for 
environmental 
resource efficiency 
developed and 
implemented.

Further develop and 
facilitate implementation 
of policy measures 
and interventions for 
environmental resource 
efficiency for improved 
waste management.

Roll-out the 2Wise2Waste 
Programme by means of 
presentations and distribution of 
marketing material. Conducted a 
2Wise2Waste survey and collated 
the responses in a report.

Meetings regularly held with 
floor- and departmental 
champions. Programme also 
introduced to the George Office 
of the Department.

Conducted awards session to 
celebrate efforts of floor- and 
departmental champions.

Established Working Group on 
Green Procurement to assist with 
the policy development process. 
Collated comments from Working 
Group members and amended 
the Draft Green Paper on Green 
Procurement.

Submitted a memorandum to 
Cabinet to request their approval 
to publish it as a Green Paper for 
public comment.

Reviewed the Recycling Strategy 
and updated, printed and 
distributed Recycled Products 
Catalogue and conducted Waste 
Minimisation Summit.



48

P
E

R
F

O
R

M
A

N
C

E
P r o g ra m m e

2.12	 Programme 5:	 Biodiversity Management

Purpose: 

The aim of the programme is to promote equitable and sustainable use of natural resources to contribute to 
economic development, by managing biodiversity and its components, processes, habitats, ecosystems and 
functions, and to effectively mitigate threats to sustainable management of biodiversity and natural resources.

The programme Biodiversity Management comprise of the following sub-programmes:

5.1: Biodiversity and Protected Area Planning and Management;

5.2: Western Cape Nature Conservation Board; and

5.3: Coastal Resource Use. 

Measurable objectives: 

The measurable objectives relevant to the mentioned sub-programmes and as included in the 2009/10 Annual 
Performance Plan are as follows:

•	 To create opportunities for access to our natural resources, specifically for marginalised communities.

•	 To support strategic decision-making and intervention to enhance planning and environmental management.

Service delivery objectives and indicators: 

Sub-programme 5.1:  Biodiversity and Protected Area Planning and Management 

•	 The primary role of the Department with regards to this sub-programme has been to monitor the biodiversity 
management performance of CapeNature using the Biodiversity Monitoring System indicators developed and 
refined in previous financial years.  The indicators have all been incorporated by CapeNature into their internal 
Monitoring and Evaluation (M&E) system and report regularly to the Department. A consolidated Annual 
Report for the financial year will be drafted and submitted to the Department during 2010/11.

Sub-programme 5.2:  Western Cape Nature Conservation Board

The Western Cape Nature Conservation Board, trading as CapeNature, is the provincial public entity responsible 
for nature conservation matters within the Province. A total amount of R133.272 million was transferred to 
CapeNature and included the following earmarked allocations:
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•	 R13 million for personnel issues;

•	 R15.445 million for infrastructure upgrades (the initial amount of R20 million was reduced during the adjusted 
estimates process with R4.555 million);

•	 R23.800 million for fire management capacity (including the Expanded Public Works Programme fire-fighting) 
and eradication of alien vegetation;

•	 R1.945 million for 2009/10 salary increases;

•	 R300 000 for Baboon Management;

•	 R120 000 for the Gouritz Biosphere Reserve initiative; and 

•	 R216 000 for its internship programme.

On a quarterly basis, CapeNature reported on its 2009/10 Annual Performance Plan deliverables, expenditure 
and revenue position and on the earmarked funding. As required by the Western Cape Nature Conservation 
Board Act, CapeNature submitted its 2010/11 5-Year Strategic Plan, Annual Performance Plan and budget 
which was approved by the Minister.

Sub-programme 5.3:  Coastal Resource Use

•	 The National Environmental Management: Integrated Coastal Management Act (Act No. 24 of 2008) was 
promulgated in February 2009, but only came into force on 1 December 2009, therefore the amended Provincial 
Integrated Coastal Management Programme could not be finalised. Selected priorities of the Integrated 
Coastal Management Programme, such as the survey on the Boat Launching Sites in the Province was initiated 
and finalised at the end of March 2010. The Department is now in a better position to manage and enforce 
compliance. It was agreed with the National Department not to proceed with the review of the Provincial 
Coastal Zone Policy until the National Guidelines have been developed. 

The implementation of the Act will be rolled out in priority phases and the Department accomplished the 
following:

-- appointed by the Provincial Cabinet as the  lead agent for Coastal Management in the Province; 

-- publication of advertisement for Membership to the Provincial Coastal Committee (PCC); 

-- sustainable Coastal Livelihoods and Coastal Induction training courses were presented to organs of state 
and municipal officials; and 

-- awareness and education campaigns were rolled out during September and October 2009 respectively 
for Coastal Clean-up and Marine Week Celebrations. 



50

P
E

R
F

O
R

M
A

N
C

E
P r o g ra m m e

Service delivery achievements:

Sub-programme 
Outputs Output Performance 

Measures/Service 
Delivery Indicators

Actual Performance against Target

Target Actual
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To promote the 
sound management 
of biodiversity.

Annual review 
of CapeNature‘s 
Biodiversity 
Management 
Performance. 

Monitor and report 
on CapeNature’s 
implementation of 
the recommendations 
of the 2008/09 
annual biodiversity 
performance review.

Reports were received from 
CapeNature while a consolidated 
annual report for the financial year 
will be drafted and submitted to 
DEA&DP by May 2010.
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To support 
the Western 
Cape Nature 
Conservation Board 
(WCNCB) financially.

The Western Cape 
Nature Conservation 
Board supported 
financially.

The Western Cape 
Nature Conservation 
Board financially 
supported.

Transferred R133.272 million to 
CapeNature. CapeNature’s budget 
reduced with R1.974 million during 
the Adjustments Estimate to 
R133.272 million. Transfer schedule 
amended.
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Promote 
Integrated Coastal 
Management.

Approve amended 
Integrated Coastal 
Management 
Programme (ICMP).

Implementation of the 
National Environmental 
Management: 
Integrated Coastal 
Management Act.

The National Environmental 
Management: Integrated Coastal 
Management Act came into force 
on 1 December 2009, therefore 
the amended Integrated Coastal 
Management Programme could not 
be finalised.

The Department accomplished the 
following priority phases:

Appointed by the Provincial 
Cabinet as the  lead agent for 
Coastal Management in the 
Province;

•	 Publication of advertisement for 
Membership to the Provincial 
Coastal Committee (PCC);

•	 Sustainable Coastal Livelihoods 
and Coastal Induction training 
courses were presented to 
organs of state and municipal 
officials; and

•	 Awareness and education 
campaigns were rolled out 
during September and October 
respectively for Coastal Clean-up 
and Marine Week Celebrations.

Implement and support 
selected priorities 
of the Integrated 
Coastal Management 
Programme.

Before the Act came into operation, 
a Draft Integrated Coastal 
Management Programme was 
implemented and these aspects are 
now reflected in the Act.

Selected priorities of the Integrated 
Coastal Management Programme 
such as the survey on the Boat 
Launching Sites in the Province was 
initiated and finalised at the end of 
March 2010.

Review the Coastal 
Zone Policy.

It was agreed with the National 
Department not to proceed with 
the review of the Provincial Coastal 
Zone Policy until the National 
Guidelines have been developed.
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3.	 Report of the Audit Committee

PROVINCIAL GOVERNMENT WESTERN CAPE

DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL AFFAIRS AND DEVELOPMENT PLANNING (VOTE 9)

We are pleased to present our report for the financial year ended 31 March 2010.

Audit Committee Members and Attendance

In terms of Cabinet Resolution 55/2007, the Department of Environmental Affairs and Development Planning 
is served by the Economic Cluster Audit Committee.  The Audit Committee consists of the members listed 
hereunder and should meet at least four times per annum as per its approved terms of reference. During the 
current year nine meetings were held.

Name of Member Number of Meetings Attended

Mr P Jones (Chairperson) 6

Mr Z Hoosain 8

Mr J Jarvis (Contract expired 31 December 2009) 8

Mr S Claassen (Contract expired 31 December 2009) 8

Mr R Kingwill (Contract commenced 1 January 2010) 1

Ms L Hassan (Contract commenced 1 January 2010) 1

Mr K Larkin (Contract commenced 1 January 2010) 0

Apologies were tendered and accepted for meetings not attended.  A quorum of members was present at all 
meetings.

Audit Committee Responsibility

The Audit Committee reports that it has complied with its responsibilities arising from Section 38(1)(a) of the 
Public Finance Management Act (PFMA) and Treasury Regulation 3.1.

The Audit Committee also reports that it has adopted appropriate formal terms of reference as its Audit 
Committee Charter has regulated its affairs in compliance with this Charter and has discharged all its 
responsibilities as contained therein.

The Effectiveness of Internal Control

The system of internal control applied by the Department over financial risk and risk management is adequate.

In line with the PFMA and the King III Report on Corporate Governance requirements, Internal Audit provides 
the Audit Committee and management with assurance that the internal controls are adequate and effective.  
This is achieved by a risk-based Internal Audit Plan, internal audit assessing the adequacy of controls mitigating 
the risks and the Audit Committee monitoring implementation of corrective action.  From the various reports 
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of the Internal Auditors, the Audit Report on the Annual Financial Statements and the management report of 
the Auditor-General South Africa, no material deficiencies in the system of internal control were noted.

Information Technology (IT)

The Committee previously reported on the growing crisis of IT within the Provincial Government and limited 
progress has been made towards implementation of the turn-around strategy to address the IT-related risks 
facing the Province.  Until the turn-around strategy has been fully implemented, the risks facing the Department 
will not be mitigated to an acceptable level.

The Committee has been informed that IT services received priority consideration at Cabinet level for the 
implementation of the IT Services Blueprint.

The Quality of In-Year Management and Quarterly Reports Submitted in terms of the 
PFMA and the Division of Revenue Act

The Audit Committee is satisfied with the content and quality of quarterly reports prepared and issued by the 
Accounting Officer of the Department during the year under review.

Evaluation of Financial Statements

The Audit Committee has:

•	 reviewed and discussed the audited Annual Financial Statements to be included in the Annual Report, with the 
Auditor-General and the Accounting Officer;

•	 reviewed the Auditor-General’s Management Report and management’s response thereto;

•	 reviewed changes in accounting policies and practices where applicable;

•	 reviewed the Department’s processes for compliance with legal and regulatory provisions; and

•	 reviewed significant adjustments resulting from the audit.

The Audit Committee concurs and accepts the Auditor-General’s conclusions on the Annual Financial 
Statements, and is of the opinion that the audited Annual Financial Statements be accepted and read together 
with the report of the Auditor-General.

Internal Audit

In the year under review, the Shared Internal Audit unit experienced challenges relating to capacity and 
change management which impacted on its ability to achieve its plan. The Audit Committee acknowledged 
these challenges and in conjunction with the Head of the Department agreed to a revised Internal Audit Plan 
which the Audit Committee monitored and will continue to monitor in future years as Internal Audit achieves 
optimal capacity.
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Auditor-General South Africa

The Audit Committee has met with the Auditor-General South Africa to ensure that there are no unresolved 
issues that emanated from the regularity audit.

Appreciation

The Audit Committee wishes to express its appreciation to the Officials of the Department, Provincial Treasury, 
the Auditor-General South Africa and the Internal Audit unit for the cooperation and information they have 
provided to enable us to compile this report.

Mr P Jones

Chairperson of the Economic Cluster Audit Committee

Date:  9 August 2010
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Report by the Accounting Officer to the Executive Authority and 
Provincial Legislature of the Republic of South Africa

1.	 General review of the state of financial affairs

The Department was faced with numerous policy decisions and strategic issues during the period under 
review, which includes, inter alia, the following:

Policy developments and strategic issues

•	 Amendments of the Provincial Noise Control Regulations

Following public comment and several iterations of amendments, a revised version of the Provincial Noise 
Control Regulations was submitted to Provincial Legal Services for review prior to promulgation. Provincial 
Legal Services raised a new concern with regards to the constitutionality of the Regulations and an external 
opinion on this matter was requested; the outcome of which is currently awaited.    

•	 Section 30 NEMA Emergency Incidents

A Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) on the management of Section 30 of the emergency incidents 
between the Department and District Municipalities was circulated for comment.  No comments were received 
from the District Municipalities and the MOU has been reviewed for its legality. The MOU has been sent to 
municipal managers for signing upon approval of its contents.  

Officials continued to attend quarterly meetings at PetroSA, Mittal Steel and Chevron, in association with the 
Department of Environmental Affairs (DEA).

•	 Atmospheric Prevention Pollution Act (Act No. 45 of 1965) and NEM: Air Quality Act (Act No. 39 of 2004):

The Department assisted the Department of Environmental Affairs (DEA) with implementing the Atmospheric 
Pollution Prevention Act (APPA, Act No. 45 of 1965) and National Environmental Management: Air Quality 
Act (NEM:AQA, Act 39 of 2004) within the Province.  Local municipalities were trained in terms of preparing 
for licensing of scheduled activities in terms of the APPA and the issuing of Atmospheric Emission Licenses 
in terms of the NEM:AQA. The Department assisted with the drafting of Registration Certificates that will be 
converted into Atmospheric Emission Licenses to be administered by the District Municipalities. 

•	 Promulgation of the Amendments to the NEMA EIA Regulations

An important strategic issue facing the Department is the promulgation and implementation of the 
amendments to the NEMA EIA regulations.  These amendments to the NEMA EIA regulations have been delayed 
for various reasons by the National Department of Environmental Affairs (DEA).  This has negatively impacted 
on our EIA capacity-building programme for the 2009/10 financial year. However, communication from DEA 
has indicated that the promulgation of the amendments to the NEMA EIA regulations will be implemented by 
mid 2010.
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•	 Environmental Management Frameworks (EMF)

During the 2009/10 financial year the sub-programme initiated the Saldanha Bay Environmental Management 
Framework and completed development of the Drakenstein Environmental Management Framework. The 
approval of all EMFs are dependent on the promulgation of the amended NEMA EIA Regulations which has 
not yet come into effect, hence the approval of the EMFs could not happen. 

•	 Land Use Planning Legislation (LUPA)

A first draft of a LUPA was finalised in March 2009. However, a judgement issued by the Supreme Court of 
Appeal suggested that the approach followed in the first draft of LUPA needed to be revisited. To promote 
transparency and openness and to ensure the buy-in of other spheres of government, it was decided to 
develop a consensus legal framework that is constitutionally acceptable, to guide the development of the 
proposed new provincial planning law. A draft Legal Framework for the proposed provincial planning law was 
compiled and discussed with representatives of municipalities and presented during a meeting of the PCF that 
was attended by the Minister, Mayors and Municipal Managers on 17 March 2010. All parties had to submit 
their comments on the framework before 16 April 2010.  

•	 Zoning Schemes

Two general amendments to all zoning schemes in the Western Cape in terms of Section 8 and 9 of LUPO were 
completed. These amendments resulted in a new zone for telecommunication facilities being incorporated 
into all zoning schemes while the definition of agriculture, and related consent uses and parameters were 
amended to provide clarity and resolve uncertainties. 

•	 Sustainable Energy Strategy

The Department embarked on a process of developing a Sustainable Energy Strategy and Programme of 
Action for the Western Cape. The aim is to develop a sustainable strategy in partnership with key stakeholders 
in the Province. As part of the implementation of the Sustainable Energy Strategy and Programme of 
Action agreements were concluded with the British and German governments respectively whereby these 
governments assisted the Western Cape in the following ways:

-- the promotion of Wind Energy in the Western Cape e.g. by means of a Western Cape Grid Study and 
Regional Regulatory Action Plan (RRAP);

-- building capacity of departmental officials and other stakeholders through workshops and seminars; and

-- the initiation of the development of a Western Cape White Paper and Bill on Sustainable Energy.

•	 Health Care Waste Management Amendment Bill

The amendment of the Western Cape Health Care Waste Management Act (Act No. 7 of 2007) commenced 
to bring about the alignment with the National Environmental Management: Waste Act (Act. No. 59 of 
2009).  The Draft Health Care Waste Management Amendment Bill was published in the government gazette 
(PN 361/2009) for public comment. Comments on the draft were processed and the Health Care Waste 
Management Amendment Bill was certified by Legal Services and is currently in the parliamentary process.
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•	 Green Procurement Policy (GPP)

Commenced with the finalisation and translation of a draft Green Paper on a Green Procurement Policy after 
obtaining comments from a reference group, which comprises the Premier’s Department: Legal Services and 
Policy Coordination components, Provincial Treasury, the Department of Economic Affairs and Tourism and 
the Department of Environmental Affairs and Development Planning. A Cabinet memorandum was submitted 
to obtain approval from the Provincial Cabinet to publish it as a Green Paper on Green Procurement Policy for 
public comment.

•	 National Environmental Management: Waste Act 

The NEM: Waste Act (Act No. 59 of 2009) was promulgated on 8 March 2009 and commenced on 1 July 
2010.  Regulations under the Waste Act related to the listing of waste management licensing activities were 
promulgated and came into effect on 3 July 2009, which assigned powers to the MEC as the competent 
licensing authority over general waste management activities. The commencement of the Waste Act and 
Waste Management Licensing Regulations has major impacts on both the financial and human resources 
administering these legislations.

Significant events

•	 Environment Events

Four internationally recognised environmental days were celebrated during the 2009/10 financial year.

-- World Environment Day was celebrated in Prince Albert in conjunction with the Municipality.  More than 
300 children and senior officials of government departments in the town attended and a presentation on 
Climate Change was also communicated.

-- Arbour Day was celebrated in conjunction with the Mossel Bay Municipality.  More than 300 children from 
local schools attended the event that was accompanied by a tree planting ceremony in a public space 
close to the historical Post Office tree.

-- World Habitat Day was celebrated through participation in a coastal clean-up event hosted by the Eden 
District Municipality.

-- World Wetlands Day was celebrated at Rietenbosch primary school in Stellenbosch.  The event involved 
the launch of a rehabilitation programme, partly funded by the Department, of a degraded wetland on 
the school premises and an art competition communicating the value of wetlands.

•	 2Precious2Pollute

The 2Precious2Pollute programme was launched to convey the work of the Directorate: Pollution Management 
to Municipalities, the public and stakeholders. Work in the chemicals sector and in developing a Provincial 
Air Quality Management Plan was highlighted at the launch. Fact-sheets on the work undertaken by the 
Directorate were used to raise awareness on pollution prevention and resource efficiency.
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•	 Air Quality Management Plan and Status Quo Report (AQMP)

The draft Air Quality Management Plan for the Western Cape was workshopped with various stakeholders 
during the public participation process of the project. Additional workshops were held with various industrial 
sectors to solicit comment to further inform the plan. These processes were very successful and resulted in 
the revision and publication of the draft AQMP for public comment. The Status Quo Report on Air Quality 
Management in the Western Cape and Western Cape Air Quality Management Plan was approved, printed and 
communicated to stakeholders at the 2Precious2Pollute Programme Launch. 

•	 Provincial Spatial Development Framework (PSDF)

The Minister approved the Provincial Spatial Development Framework (PSDF) as a section 4(6) Structure Plan in 
terms of the Land Use Planning Ordinance, 1985 (Ordinance 15 of 1985) (LUPO) on 24 June 2009.

Although the first draft of the manuals were finalised departmentally in the 2008/09 financial year, the public 
participation process could not proceed before the Provincial Spatial Development Framework (PSDF) was 
approved. Due to the sensitive nature of some of the manuals it was necessary that the Executive Authority 
approve the publication of the manuals for public participation purposes. The approval of the PSDF was 
granted on 24 June 2009. Permission to go out on public participation of the manuals was obtained in 
September 2009. Subsequent to this, the Department advertised the manuals for comment and conducted 
workshops during November/December 2009. The closing date for comments on the manuals was 29 January 
2010. The Department of Agriculture requested that the manual on Rural Land Use Planning and Management 
not be finalised until alignment between the manual and the Provincial Rural Development Strategy had been 
facilitated. Although a draft manual on Inclusionary Housing was produced it could not be finalised because 
the National Department of Human Settlements has not yet finalised their national framework on Inclusionary 
Housing. The Manual on Settlement Restructuring was completed but was not submitted to the Executive 
for approval as the Department considered the approval of all these manuals as a package that needed to be 
approved simultaneously as it forms the backbone of the PSDF.

The Department embarked on the following additional new projects:

-- A process to review and update the Growth Potential Study which was an important informant in the 
drafting of the PSDF.  The review of the Growth Potential Study will also form an important component of 
the Provincial Spatial Plan that the Department will embark upon in the 2010/11 financial year. 

-- A Biodiversity Fine Scale Plan to cover gap areas within the Province that were not covered by previous 
studies. The purpose of this study is to assist, especially rural municipalities, in compiling municipal and 
provincial spatial plans to recognise and protect areas of high biodiversity value within their jurisdiction. 

•	 Biosphere Reserve Draft Bill

A Draft Biosphere Reserve Bill was published for comment during September 2009. Comments received were 
evaluated and the proposed Bill submitted to Provincial Legal Services for consideration and certification.
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•	 Biosphere Reserves

The Department continued its financial support to the Kogelberg and Cape West Coast Biosphere Reserves, 
as well as provided funding towards the compilation of an application to UNESCO for the designation of the 
Gouritz Cluster Biosphere Reserve. In the case of the Kogelberg and Cape West Coast Biosphere Reserves, 
the funds were used for logistical support and the compilation of Biosphere Reserve Spatial Development 
Framework Plans that will form an integral part of the Municipal Spatial Development Frameworks. 

•	 Western Cape Sustainable Development Report

The aim of the Sustainable Development Report is to review the sustainability of the performance of the 
Provincial Government, both in terms of carrying out its core policy and legislative functions, as well as (in 
the nature of ) its internal organisational activities. During 2009 the first Sustainable Development Report was 
issued by the Department. The Sustainable Development Report also provides a broad perspective on the 
environment and social status of the Western Cape as a geographic and economic region as evaluated in terms 
of its ecological footprint and the United Nations Human Development Index. The aim of the report is further to 
provide a benchmark of where the Province stands with regard to sustainability and propose how the agenda 
could be advanced – both within the Provincial Government itself, and between the government and its 
stakeholders. This will inform the further development of policies to stimulate equitable and environmentally 
sustainable economic growth in the Western Cape.

•	 Wind Conference

Together with the German Technical Cooperation (GTZ) the Department hosted wind energy workshops in May 
2009 and a wind energy conference in November 2009.  This conference was the final project event whereby 
the Grid Study and the Regional Regulatory Action Plan were officially presented. Wind Action Groups, which 
were established during the year, had the opportunity to share experiences and discuss challenges regarding 
the sector in breakaway sessions. Over 150 delegates attended the conference which served as an important 
networking and knowledge sharing opportunity for the growth of the wind energy industry.

•	 Climate Change Education for Teachers

A second workshop in collaboration with City of Cape Town (CoCT) and Education Department on climate 
change education for teachers was hosted by the Department. The purpose of the 10-day workshop was 
to educate teachers on the impacts of Climate Change so that they can educate learners. Fifty (50) teachers 
attended the workshop.

•	 Clean Development Mechanism Desk (CDM)

A Clean Development Mechanism Desk was hosted within the Department. The purpose of the Clean 
Development Mechanism Desk was to assist Provincial and Local Government to register Clean Development 
Mechanism projects with the National Designated Authority for the purpose of selling carbon credits.  
During 2009, developers were called upon by means of an advertisement in the newspapers to submit projects 
which could be evaluated for submission as Clean Development Mechanism projects. Eight proposals were 
received and evaluated, however none were found to be viable as a Clean Development Mechanism project.
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•	 Cleanest Town Competition 

The Provincial round of the National Cleanest Town Competition was concluded and an awards ceremony was 
held on 26 November 2009 to celebrate the provincial winners. Overstrand, George, Swartland, Witzenberg and 
Eden District Municipalities were awarded for its achievements. The aim of the competition was to promote 
improved integrated waste management in the Province and to encourage the improvement of the physical 
environment of the Province. 

•	 2Wise2Waste

The 2Wise2Waste programme, an environmental efficiency programme, was marketed to the Department of 
the Premier, Provincial Parliament, Premier’s official residence, Department of Community Safety, Department 
of Economic Development and Tourism, Treasury and CapeNature. Regular meetings with floor- and 
departmental champions were conducted to ensure the successful roll-out of the programme. Assistance 
was also provided to departments on request to facilitate implementation of the programme. A survey was 
conducted to gauge the impact of the implementation of the 2Wise2Waste programme.

External promotion of 2Wise2Waste programme was presented to market the programme to municipalities 
and the general public. The Recycled Products Catalogue used to stimulate the demand and supply of recycled 
products was updated, printed and distributed to the public.  The “Buy Recycled Products” campaign under the 
auspices of 2Wise2Waste programme, was held at the Cape Gate Shopping Centre which provided a platform 
for SMMEs to market their recycled products to the public.

•	 Waste Management in Education Programme (WAME)

WAME programme was rolled out to 25 foundation phase educators from schools in the Matzikama area in 
conjunction with the Matzikama Municipality. A Monitoring and Evaluation (M&E) report was finalised after 
conducting a survey amongst all schools that participated in the WAME programme since its inception, to 
ascertain the impact thereof. While the programme was well received by the educators, a support plan is 
needed to ensure that resources and knowledge is transferred at school level to fellow educators and that the 
programme is sustained through the support of the Education and Environmental provincial departments and 
municipal and industry initiatives.

•	 Waste Minimisation Summit

The Department hosted a Waste Minimisation Summit on 3–4 March 2010 that was attended by 300 stakeholders 
that provided a platform to shape actions pertaining to waste minimisation that will form part of the Western 
Cape Integrated Waste Management Plan.  Seven (7) commissions covering pertinent aspects related to waste 
minimisation delivered the final outcomes of the summit.  The summit also provided exhibition space that 
showcased waste minimisation technologies and products.
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Major projects

•	 Integrated Waste Management Planning: 

-- Monitoring and Evaluation of Municipal Integrated Waste Management Plans

Integrated waste planning is an important tool to address the waste management problems experienced in the 
Province and therefore a system to monitor and evaluate the implementation of the municipal integrated waste 
management plans was developed. A consultative process that took the form of two municipal workshops 
was followed as part of the development process where municipalities commented on the system. The 
development of the system was partly funded by the Urban Environmental Management Programme, funded 
by the Danish International Development Agency (DANIDA). The system was piloted in nine municipalities to 
test the challenges which could hamper full-scale implementation.

-- Industry Waste Management Planning

The Department facilitated the development of industry waste management plans for the Consumer 
Formulated Chemical Sector by completing draft assessment criteria for industry waste management plans 
and conducting targeted audits to inform the development process. A workshop was held with industry 
representatives to discuss the assessment criteria and the audit findings.

•	 GreenStay SA

Continued participation on the National Steering Committee to establish Minimum National Responsible 
Tourism Standards for the hospitality and tourism industry, which are in final form and are due to be approved 
by the National Minister for Tourism. The GreenStay SA grading programme was endorsed in the Provincial 
GreenGoal Action Plan to green the 2010 World Cup Soccer event. Accommodation establishments were  
invited to be graded. Training workshops on the GreenStay SA grading programme was held. 

•	 Chemicals Management Programme

Twenty-two companies were assisted to complete Chemicals Management Action Plans (CMAP) to reduce 
accidents and reduce the use of hazardous chemicals.  These companies came from three targeted sectors, viz. 
Consumer-formulated products, Metal-finishing and the Drum-reconditioning sectors.  

•	 Provincial Plan of Action to Reduce Marine Pollution from Land-Based Sources 

In keeping with the UNEP/DEA National Plan of Action to address land-based sources of marine pollution, the 
Directorate: Pollution Management developed a draft Provincial Plan of Action to reduce marine pollution from 
land-based sources. Priority estuaries were also identified for intervention and a set of actions to be discussed 
with the responsible government Departments was proposed. The Directorate completed a pilot study on the 
accumulation of metal pollutants in the Diep River Estuary. The information obtained from this study will be 
used to determine future interventions towards addressing land-based sources of marine pollution. 
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•	 Ambient Air Quality Monitoring Programme 

Ambient air quality monitoring stations continued operating in Paarl, Vredenburg and Mossel Bay until they 
will be relocated according to plan, to a location in George (Eden District Municipality), Malmesbury (West 
Coast district Municipality) and in Worcester (Cape Winelands District Municipality). Monitoring commenced at 
Worcester from September 2009. Commissioning and monitoring in Malmesbury and George will commence 
during the 2010/11 financial year as planned. The fourth continuous ambient air quality monitoring station 
procured at the end of the 2008/09 financial year was commissioned to operate within the City of Cape Town, 
and is up and running. This station also includes a Volatile Organic Compound (VOC) monitor. 

The ambient air quality monitoring stations monitor the priority pollutants, viz. SO2, NOx, O3 and PM10. 
Each monitoring station has a complete meteorological station that measures wind speed, radiation, wind 
direction, temperature and humidity. Air quality data reports are received from these stations on a daily and 
monthly basis. A Volatile Organic Compound passive sampling programme was completed at each of the 
monitoring stations. Quarterly reports detailing monitoring results have also been produced. The purpose of 
the monitoring is to establish baseline data on air pollutants in the Western Cape that will be used to inform 
whether any priority areas are needed for air quality management in the Province.

•	 Built Environment Support Programme (BESP)

The BESP is a joint initiative between the Department of Human Settlements (previously the Department of 
Local Government and Housing) and this Department (DEA&DP). The aim of the programme is to support 
Municipalities in revising their Spatial Development Frameworks (SDFs) and Human Settlement Plans (HSPs), 
and to build capacity.  

The first round of the BESP was started late in 2008. This round is concerned with revising the SDFs and HSPs 
of six municipalities, namely George, Knysna, Drakenstein, Stellenbosch, Saldanha and Overstrand. Although 
the programme is still on track to have the SDFs and HSPs of the aforementioned Municipalities completed by 
October 2010, a variety of challenges were encountered that influenced the finalisation of the outcomes of the 
products of this programme. 

The second round of the BESP has been initiated. This round includes a further six Municipalities, namely 
Theewaterskloof, Hessequa, Mossel Bay, Bitou, Breede Valley, and Cape Agulhas.

•	 Develop a Monitoring and Evaluation System for the Climate Change Response Implementation

In order to assess Governments’ implementation of the Climate Change Response Strategy and Action Plan 
(CCRS&AP) by all line functions and spheres of government in the Province, a Monitoring and Evaluation system 
was inclusively developed which included an initial set of indicators and data capture templates covering the 
four key focus areas of the strategy, namely:

-- The Integrated Water Programme;

-- The Research, Monitoring and Validation Programme;
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-- The Linkages Programme between Land Stewardship, Livelihoods and the Economy; and

-- The Mitigation Programme.

•	 Develop a Sea Level Rise Risk Assessment Model

A Risk Assessment Model and Report highlighting potential threats associated with sea level rise and floods 
along the Eden District coast as well as an action plan was developed.  The expected outcome of this assessment 
is to mainstream climate change issues across all line functions and spheres of government to appropriately 
inform decision-making.

•	 Climate Change Capacity-Building Programme 

This project will assist the Department in its oversight function in assessing governments’ efforts (through 
integration and implementation) of adapting to and mitigating against the consequences of climate change 
and implementing the Western Cape Climate Change Response Strategy and Action Plan. The Department 
partnered with SALGA in hosting one workshop in each of the five district municipalities targeting provincial 
and municipal officials and selected NGOs.

•	 Solar Water Geyser Programme

The Department continued with the roll-out of the Solar Water Heater Geyser programme. Through this 
programme the Department successfully installed 638 solar water heater geysers in Mossel Bay (138), 
Oudtshoorn (100), Prince Albert (100) and Darling (300).

Spending trends

•	 The original appropriation for the 2009/10 financial year was R266.757 million. This amount was decreased 
by R1.696 million during the Adjustment Estimates, and the final appropriation was thus R265.061 million. 
Total expenditure for the 2009/10 financial year amounted to R263.330 million, representing 99.3% of the total 
budget. Slow spending on earmarked funding for the Built Environment Support Programme (BESP), was due 
to the delay in advertising the bid for the second phase of the development of Municipal Spatial Development 
Frameworks and Human Settlement Plans. This was the major contributor to the unspent amount of R1.731 
million.

Included in the total expenditure is R133.272 million which was transferred to the provincial biodiversity 
public entity, the Western Cape Nature Conservation Board, trading as CapeNature. CapeNature’s original 
appropriation of R135.246 million was reduced during the Adjustment Estimates to R133.272 million. 

Department specific funding and expenditure, excluding CapeNature’s amounts, is thus R131.789 million and 
R130.058 million respectively. Based on this revised expenditure, 66.68% (R86.719 million) was in respect of 
compensation of employees, goods and services accounted for 28.57% (R37.159 million) and payments for 
capital assets accounted for 3.89% (R5.055 million).

The implementation of higher than budgeted 2009 annual salary increases and the Occupation Specific 
Dispensation (OSD) without additional funding placed tremendous pressure on the Department’s budget. 
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Cost-cutting measures were introduced but on a relatively small budget, any additional pressures have major 
implications. The OSD affected more than 60% of the staff establishment.  The implementation of the further 
phases of the OSD will negatively impact on operational funding over the MTEF period. The Department is 
in the advanced stage of implementing a new organisational structure without any additional funding. In 
the long-term, the Department will not be in a position to fully implement the new organisational structure 
without additional funding.

•	 Virements

Virement was necessary to defray overspending on Programmes 1: Administration and 3: Compliance and 
Enforcement. Over expenditure of R1.815 million on Programme 1 was the result of increased costs related 
to the Information Communication Technology Plan, particularly in respect of network infrastructure 
equipment. This over expenditure was defrayed by means of applying virement from savings on Programmes 2: 
Policy Coordination and Environmental Planning (R1.14 million) and 4: Environmental Quality Management  
(R675 000). Increased legal fees resulted in the over expenditure of R1.48 million on Programme 3: Compliance 
and Enforcement which was defrayed by means of virement from savings on Programme 4: Environmental 
Quality Management.  

•	 The Department received revenue from the following sources:

-- Revenue from Section 24G fines;

-- Boat launching site permits;

-- Commission on Insurance;

-- Access to information; and

-- Charges for maps and posters.

The revenue budget of R106 000 was exceeded by R938 330.

2.	 Service rendered by the Department

A list of services rendered is reported on in Part 2 of the Annual Report.

•	 Tariff policy

Revenue tariffs are charged as per approved tariffs. The majority of the revenue tariffs are determined by law 
or at a national level. These tariffs include Access to Information requests, Boat launching sites, fines in terms of 
Section 24G of the National Environmental Management Act and Commission on Insurance. Charges for maps 
and posters are determined by the Department and depend on the printing size. 

All the tariffs are reflected in a tariff register, which is revised annually.
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•	 Inventory

Currently the Department does not have stores and all inventory items are procured as the need arises.

•	 Free Services

No free services were rendered by the Department.

3.	 Capacity constraints

Although the Department is in an advanced stage with an Institutional Review and Organisational Refinement 
Project in order to improve efficiencies and building institutional capacity to deliver on its mandates, funding 
for the implementation is a major challenge.  Approval for the new proposed structure will be obtained early in 
the new financial year. A phased implementation strategy will have to be followed in an attempt to overcome 
budget limitations. 

4.	 Utilisation of donor funds

In the 2009/10 financial year the Department continued to participate in the Urban Environmental Management 
Programme funded by the Government of the Kingdom of Denmark. Projects funded by DANIDA (the Danish 
Development Assistance programme) included the following:

-- Air Quality Management Plan;

-- Industry waste management planning in the consumer formulated chemical sector;

-- Provincial Integrated Waste Management Plan;

-- Installation of solar water heating in low-cost housing;

-- Installation of energy efficiency floodlights at Phillipi Soccer Stadium; and

-- Manuals for implementation of Spatial Development Frameworks.

Funding received during this financial year was R3.080 million while expenditure of R2.964 million was incurred.
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5.	 Trading entities and public entities

•	 Western Cape Nature Conservation Board 

The Western Cape Nature Conservation Board was established in terms of the Western Cape Nature 
Conservation Board Act, No 15 of 1998, as amended. Trading as CapeNature, the provincial biodiversity public 
entity, derives its mandate and functions from the Western Cape Nature Conservation Board Act. The Act 
describes the objectives of CapeNature as:

a)	 to promote and ensure nature conservation and related matters in the Province;

b)	 to render services and provide facilities for research and training in connection with nature conservation and 
related matters in the Province; and

c)	 in pursuing the objectives as set out in paragraphs (a) and (b), to generate income, within the framework of 
any applicable policy determined by the responsible Minister or the Provincial Cabinet.

Under the leadership of the Chairperson of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer, CapeNature compiled 
and submitted its five-year Strategic Plan and 2010/11 Annual Performance Plan and MTEF Budget to the 
Minister for approval. The approved five-year Strategic Plan, 2010/11 Annual Performance Plan and budget 
were tabled in the Provincial Legislature on 2 March 2010.

Similarly, the 2008/09 Annual Report was submitted for tabling at the Provincial Legislature on 30 September 
2009.

From the Department’s total voted funds, R133.272 million was transferred to CapeNature. The original 
appropriation of R135.246 million was reduced during the Adjustment Estimates to R133.272 million. The 
decrease of R1.974 million is the net result after the deduction of R4.555 million from tourism infrastructure 
funding, while additional funding was in respect of Improvement of Conditions of Service (R1.945 million), 
funding the Baboon Management Project (R300 000), funding to assist with UNESCO’s application of biosphere 
reserve statutes for Gouritz (R120 000) and financial support for CapeNature’s internship programme  
(R216 000).

•	 Environmental Commissioner

The establishment of the Office of the Environmental Commissioner, as a Schedule 3, Part C Provincial Public 
entity in terms of the Public Finance Management Act, did not materialise. A process has been set in motion 
to provide clarity on the appropriate action on the future of the Office of the Environmental Commissioner.  

6.	 Organisations to whom transfer payments have been made 

A list of entities to whom transfer payments have been made, including the purpose for transfer payments and 
the accountability arrangements in place, are reported on in PART 2 of the Annual Report.
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7.	 Public private partnerships (PPP)

No public/private partnerships were established by the Department during the 2009/10 financial year.

8.	 Corporate governance arrangements

The Department utilises the shared Audit Committee and Internal Audit Unit of the Province. The Audit 
Committee consists of four members; all external appointments.  The Audit Committee met regularly during 
the 2009/10 financial year. The Audit Committee and Internal Audit Unit operated effectively during the 
2009/10 financial year. The Audit Committee for the Economic Cluster was established and new members 
were appointed from 1 January 2010.  

Corporate governance is the responsibility of all employees and the Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) Unit 
assists in strengthening this Departmental governance framework through embedding the culture of risk 
management as required in section 38(1) (a) (i) of the PFMA as well as Chapter 3 of the Provincial Treasury 
Instructions.  During the 2009/10 financial year various fraud and risk awareness workshops were facilitated by 
this Unit as well as operational and strategic risk assessment workshops. All identified risks were adequately 
recorded in the Departmental Risk profile and officially handed over to the responsible risk owners to 
implement risk mitigating actions.  

The Departmental Risk Management Policy as well as the Fraud Prevention Policy and Response Plan were 
completed. All risk management and fraud activities were reported quarterly to the Departmental Fraud and 
Risk Management Committee, Provincial Treasury and the Shared Audit Committee. 

9.	 Discontinued activities/activities to be discontinued

There were no discontinued activities.

10.	 New/proposed activities

The implementation of the NEM:ICM Act will result in new functions being devolved to the Province. 

Ongoing law reform process at National level may result in new functions being devolved to the Province.  
Planning legislation is receiving attention at National and Provincial level and the outcome may affect the 
different spheres of government. Additional funding for the Development Facilitation and Climate Change 
units components was received during the budgeting process.

11.	 Asset management

The Department utilises an electronic asset management system to record all its assets (capital and current).  
The asset register has been updated and also reconciled with the accounting records subsequent to year-end. 
Stock-taking for the 2009/10 financial year has been completed and the asset management component is 
currently following up on exceptions.
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12.	 Events after the reporting date

The modernisation programme of the Provincial Government, which is at an advanced stage, proposes the shift 
of Human Resources (excluding the Departments of Health and Education), Internal Audit and Enterprise Risk 
Management functions to a shared Corporate Services within the Department of the Premier phased in from 
1 April 2010. The financial implications of the function shift will be finalised during the 2010/11 Adjustment 
Estimates process once all of the human resource and other related issues have been finalised.

13.	 Performance information

The implementation of the objectives as included in the Annual Performance Plan was subjected to in-year 
monitoring, thereby ensuring that resources are utilised effectively and efficiently.  This in-year monitoring and 
reporting provides insight into assessing whether the Department achieved its performance targets.  The in-
year monitoring and reporting process was done monthly and quarterly through monthly financial reporting 
and quarterly reporting in the form of the in-year monitoring reports that are submitted to the Minister and 
the Provincial Treasury.

The Quarterly Performance Reports on the non-financial information were submitted to the Provincial Treasury 
and the Shared Audit Committee. These assessments allow the Department to monitor actual performance 
relative to the targets as included in the Annual Performance Plan. Any deviations were identified at an early 
stage and the remedial steps were introduced where possible, to ensure that the projected targets were met 
at the end of the financial year. Complementary to the quarterly performance reports, the Department also 
reports on a monthly basis on its actual revenue and expenditure levels as well as the projected revenue 
and expenditure for the remainder of the financial year, whilst monthly progress reports on key measurable 
objectives were submitted to the monthly Management Finance and General meetings. 

Performance information is reported on in PART 2 of the Annual Report.

14.	 Standing Committee on Public Accounts (SCOPA) resolutions

Herewith the following Standing Committee on Public Accounts resolutions.

-- The Department should review their documentation management in order to improve the systems of 
those sections that do not have efficient document management.

-- The Department should improve the ongoing monitoring and supervision over control processes and 
procedures to ensure the accuracy and completeness of reported performance information. Furthermore, 
management should ensure that staff members are conversant with the processes and procedures related 
to performance information.

-- The stores should be visited regularly to confirm that the security has not been breached and security at 
the stores should be improved.

-- Processes should be improved to track the movement of assets, record any losses, and investigate any 
losses recorded in a timely manner.
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-- The investigations should be completed as soon as possible and any risks identified should be addressed 
by improving the internal controls implemented.

-- The Department should take the necessary steps to ensure that performance information is clear and 
concise. They must also ensure that targeted performance is specific, well defined and measurable, so 
as to ensure that actual performance for the year can be accurately compared to the targets set at the 
beginning of the period.

15.	 Progress made with regard to matters reported by the Auditor-General 
South Africa in prior periods

Nature of qualification, disclaimer, adverse opinion and 
matters of non-compliance

Financial 
year in 
which it first 
occurred

Progress made in clearing/resolving the matter

Significant difficulties were experienced during the 
audit concerning delays or the availability of requested 
information.

2008/09 Monitoring and Evaluation unit included in proposed new 
structure for the Department. 

Modernisation project - Livelink document management 
system to be implemented transversally in the Province.

The financial statements were subject to material 
amendments resulting from the audit.

2008/09 Major and Minor assets were reconciled on a monthly 
basis, Interim Annual Financial Statements were compiled.

Adequate control processes and procedures are not 
designed and implemented to ensure the accuracy and 
completeness of reported performance information .

Lack of effective, efficient and transparent systems and 
internal controls regarding performance management.

Usefulness and reliability of reported performance 
information.

Reported performance information not relevant.

2008/09 Monitoring and Evaluation unit included in the 
proposed new structure. Programme managers sign 
quarterly reports. A Deputy Director was utilised to drive 
monitoring and evaluation processes in the meantime 
until the new structure was implemented.

Due to a break-in at the store of the Department, assets 
with a cost of R631 284 were damaged. The total value of 
the damages cannot be reliably estimated. The incident 
has been reported to the South African Police Services.

2008/09 Case was closed after police investigation. Assets were 
disposed. The specific store was used as a temporary 
measure during building renovations. A new store of 
SCM was secured with security gates and access was 
restricted to Asset Management unit. Maintenance 
and improvement in access control over asset stores. 
Reduction of asset stores to a single store.

Two investigations are being conducted by the Forensic 
Investigative Unit regarding alleged irregularities in the 
procurement of folders/files and in the payment of air 
travel accounts without the necessary authorisation.  
These investigations were still in progress at the reporting 
date.

2008/09 The case relating to air travel payments was disproved 
by the Forensic Investigative Unit (FIU) on 3 August 2009. 
The investigation of the case relating to the procurement 
irregularities, was only initiated by the Forensic 
Investigative Unit recently, due to a lack of capacity in the 
latter unit. All relevant documentation was provided to 
the FIU in November 2008.
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16.	 Exemptions and deviations received from the National Treasury

None

17.	 Approval

The Annual Financial Statements set out on pages 75 to 126 have been approved by the Accounting Officer.

R Ellis

Accounting Officer

21 July 2010 
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Report of the Auditor-General to the Western Cape Provincial Parliament 
on the Financial Statements of Vote No. 9: Western Cape Department of 
Environmental Affairs and Development Planning for the year ended 
31 March 2010

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Introduction

1.	 I have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Department of Environmental Affairs and 
Development Planning (Department), which comprise the appropriation statement, the statement of financial 
position as at 31 March 2010, and the statement of financial performance and cash flow statement for the year 
then ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, as set out on 
pages 75 to 126.

Accounting Officer’s responsibility for the financial statements

2.	 The accounting officer is responsible for the preparation of these financial statements in accordance with the 
modified cash basis of accounting determined by the National Treasury, as set out in the accounting policy 
note 1.1 and in the manner required by the Public Finance Management Act of South Africa, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 
1999) (PFMA) and Division of Revenue Act of South Africa, 2009 (Act No. 12 of 2009) (DoRA). This responsibility 
includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; 
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies and making accounting estimates that are reasonable 
in the circumstances.

Auditor-General’s responsibility

3.	 As required by section 188 of the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa 1996, and section 4 of the Public 
Audit Act of South Africa, 2004 (Act No.25 of 2004) (PAA) and section 40(2) of the PFMA, my responsibility is to 
express an opinion on these financial statements based on my audit.

4.	 I conducted my audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing and General Notice 1570 of 2009 
issued in Government Gazette 32758 of 27 November 2009.  Those standards require that I comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement.

5.	 An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation 
of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  
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An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. 

6.	 I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit 
opinion.

Opinion

7.	 In my opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
the Western Cape Department of Environmental Affairs and Development Planning for the year ended 31 
March 2010, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with the 
modified cash basis of accounting determined by the National Treasury, determined in note 1.1 to the financial 
statements and in the manner required by the PFMA and DoRA.

Emphasis of matter

I draw attention to the matter below. My opinion is not modified in respect of this matter:

Basis of accounting

8.	 The department’s policy is to prepare financial statements on the modified cash basis of accounting determined 
by National Treasury, described in the accounting policy note 1.1 to the financial statements.

Additional matters

I draw attention to the matter below. My opinion is not modified in respect of this matter:

Unaudited supplementary schedules

9.	 The supplementary information set out on pages 120 to 126 does not form part of the financial statements and 
is presented as additional information. I have not audited these schedules and accordingly I do not express an 
opinion thereon.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

10.	 In terms of the PAA and General notice 1570 of 2009, issued in Government Gazette No. 32758 of 27 November 
2009, I include below my findings on the report on predetermined objectives, compliance with the PFMA and 
DoRA and financial management (internal control).
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Findings

Predetermined objectives

11.	 No matters to report.

Compliance with laws and regulations

12.	 No matters to report.

Internal control

13.	 I considered internal control relevant to my audit of the financial statements and the report on predetermined 
objectives and compliance with the PFMA and DoRA, but not for the purposes of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of internal control. 

14.	 No matters to report.

OTHER REPORTS

Investigations

Investigations in progress

15.	 Two investigations are being conducted with regard to alleged procurement corruption and alleged misuse of 
government resources. The investigations were still ongoing at the reporting date.

Investigations completed during the financial year

16.	 Two investigations were concluded during the year under review. One case with regard to alleged 
mismanagement of funds was finalised, as the allegation was disproved. The other case investigated was with 
regard to theft of petty cash. The case was finalised with no loss to the department and the offender was 
subsequently dismissed. 
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Performance audits

17.	 A performance audit was conducted during the year under review concerning the use of consultants and 
agencies as well as outsourced services. The objective of the audit was to evaluate the measures instituted by 
management to ensure that the department appointed consultants economically and utilised them efficiently 
and effectively. The audit was concluded in May 2010.

Cape Town

31 July 2010
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Statement of Financial Performance
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2010

Note 2009/10 2008/09

R’000 R’000

REVENUE

Annual appropriation 1 265,061 205,131

Departmental revenue 2 938 614

Aid assistance 3 3,080 2,398

TOTAL REVENUE 269,079 208,143

EXPENDITURE

Current expenditure

Compensation of employees 4 86,719 66,548

Goods and services 5 37,159 36,611

Interest and rent on land 6 10 -

Financial transactions in assets and liabilities 7 36 12

Aid assistance 3 2,964 1,937

Total current expenditure 126,888 105,108

Transfers and subsidies 134,351 97,966

Transfers and subsidies 8 134,351 97,966

Expenditure for capital assets

Tangible capital assets 9 4,864 3,447

Software and other intangible assets 9 191 -

Total expenditure for capital assets 5,055 3,447

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 266,294 206,521

SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR 2,785 1,622

Reconciliation of Net Surplus for the year

Voted funds 1,731 547

Departmental revenue 14 938 614

Aid assistance 3 116 461

SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR 2,785 1,622



91

F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L
 S

TA
T

E
M

E
N

T
S

A n n u a l

Statement of Financial Position
as at 31 MARCH 2010

Note 2009/10 2008/09

R’000 R’000

ASSETS

Current assets 5,254 1,203

Cash and cash equivalents 10 5,070 1,013

Prepayments and advances 11 10 32

Receivables 12 174 158

TOTAL ASSETS 5,254 1,203

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities 5,254 1,203

Voted funds to be surrendered to the Revenue Fund 13 1,731 547

Departmental revenue to be surrendered to the Revenue Fund 14 93 16

Bank overdraft 15 1,832 92

Payables 16 1,482 115

Aid assistance unutilised 3 116 433

TOTAL LIABILITIES 5,254 1,203

NET ASSETS - -
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Cash Flow Statement
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2010

Note 2009/10 2008/09

R’000 R’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts 269,145 208,259

Annual appropriated funds received 1.1 265,061 205,131

Departmental revenue received 2 1,004 730

Aid assistance received 3 3,080 2,398

Net (increase)/decrease in working capital 1,373 41

Surrendered to Revenue Fund (1,514) (2,442)

Surrendered to RDP Fund/Donor (433) -

Current payments (126,888) (105,108)

Transfers and subsidies paid (134,351) (97,966)

Net cash flow available from operating activities 17 7,332 2,784

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payments for capital assets 9 (5,055) (3,447)

Proceeds from sale of capital assets 2.4 40 10

Net cash flows from investing activities (5,015) (3,437)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 2,317 (653)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 921 1,574

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 18 3,238 921
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Accounting Policies
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2010

The Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with the following policies, which have been 
applied consistently in all material aspects, unless otherwise indicated. However, where appropriate and 
meaningful, additional information has been disclosed to enhance the usefulness of the Financial Statements 
and to comply with the statutory requirements of the Public Finance Management Act, Act 1 of 1999 (as 
amended by Act 29 of 1999), and the Treasury Regulations issued in terms of the Act and the Division of 
Revenue Act, Act 2 of 2009. 

1.	 PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.1.	 Basis of preparation

The Financial Statements have been prepared on a modified cash basis of accounting, except where otherwise 
stated. The modified cash basis constitutes the cash basis of accounting supplemented with additional 
disclosure items. Under the cash basis of accounting, transactions and other events are recognised when cash 
is received or paid. 

1.2.	 Presentation currency

All amounts have been presented in the currency of the South African Rand (R) which is also the functional 
currency of the Department.

1.3.	 Rounding

Unless otherwise stated all financial figures have been rounded to the nearest one thousand Rand (R’000).

1.4.	 Comparative figures

Prior period comparative information has been presented in the current year’s financial statements.  Where 
necessary figures included in the prior period financial statements have been reclassified to ensure that 
the format in which the information is presented is consistent with the format of the current year’s financial 
statements.  

1.5.	 Comparative figures - Appropriation Statement

A comparison between actual amounts and final appropriation per major classification of expenditure is 
included in the Appropriation Statement.  
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2.	 REVENUE

2.1.	 Appropriated funds

Appropriated funds comprises of departmental allocations as well as direct charges against revenue fund (i.e. 
statutory appropriation).

Appropriated funds are recognised in the financial records on the date the appropriation becomes effective.  
Adjustments made in terms of the adjustments budget process are recognised in the financial records on the 
date the adjustments become effective.

The total appropriated funds received during the year are presented in the statement of financial performance.  

Unexpended appropriated funds are surrendered to the Provincial Revenue Fund.  Any amounts owing to the 
Provincial Revenue Fund at the end of the financial year are recognised as payable in the statement of financial 
position.

2.2.	 Departmental revenue

All Departmental revenue is recognised in the statement of financial performance when received and is 
subsequently paid into the Provincial Revenue Fund, unless otherwise stated.

Any amount owing to the Provincial Revenue Fund is recognised as a payable in the statement of financial 
position. 

No accrual is made for the amount receivable from the last receipt date to the end of the reporting period. 
These amounts are however disclosed in the disclosure notes to the annual financial statements.

2.3.	 Direct ex-chequer receipts/payments

All direct ex-chequer receipts are recognised in the statement of financial performance when the cash is 
received and subsequently paid into the Provincial Revenue Fund, unless otherwise stated.  

All direct ex-chequer payments are recognised in the statement of financial performance when final 
authorisation for payment is effected on the system (by no later than 31 March of each year).

Any amount owing to the Provincial Revenue Fund at the end of the financial year is recognised as a payable 
in the statement of financial position.

2.4.	 Aid assistance

Aids assistance is recognised as revenue when received.
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All in-kind aid assistance is disclosed at fair value on the date of receipt in the Annexure to the Annual financial 
statements.

The cash payments made during the year relating to aid assistance projects are recognised as expenditure in 
the statement of financial performance when final authorisation for payments is effected on the system (by no 
later than 31 March of each year).

The value of the assistance expensed prior to the receipt of funds is recognised as a receivable in the statement 
of financial position.

Inappropriately expensed amounts using aid assistance and any unutilised amounts are recognised as payables 
in the statement of financial position.

All CARA funds received must be recorded as revenue when funds are received. The cash payments made 
during the year relating to CARA earmarked projects are recognised as expenditure in the statement of 
financial performance when final authorisation for payments is effected on the system (by no later then 31 
March of each year).

Inappropriately expensed amounts using CARA funds are recognised as payables in the statement of financial 
position. Any unutilised amounts are transferred to retained funds as they are not surrendered to the revenue 
fund.

3.	 EXPENDITURE

3.1.	 Compensation of employees

3.1.1.	 Short-term employee benefits

The cost of short-term employee benefits are expensed in the statement of financial performance when 
financial authorisation for payment is effected on the system (by no later then 31 March each year).

Short-tem employee benefits that give rise to a present legal or constructive obligation are disclosed in the 
disclosure notes to the financial statements. These amounts must not be recognised in the statement of 
financial performance or position.

Employee costs are capitalised to the cost of a capital project when an employee spends more than 50% of 
his/her time on the project. These payments form part of expenditure for capital assets in the statement of 
financial performance.

3.1.2.	 Post retirement benefits

Employer contributions (i.e. social contributions) are expensed in the statement of financial performance when 
the final authorisation for payment is effected on the system (by no later than 31 March each year).
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No provision is made for retirement benefits in the financial statements of the Department. Any potential 
liabilities are disclosed in the financial statements of the National Revenue Fund and not in the financial 
statements of the employer department.

Social contributions such as medical benefits, made by the department for certain of its ex-employees are 
classified as transfers to households in the statement of financial performance.

3.1.3.	 Termination benefits

Termination benefits such as severance packages are recognised as an expense in the statement of financial 
performance as a transfer (to households) when the final authorisation for payment is effected on the system 
(by no later than 31 March of each year).

3.1.4.	 Other long-term employee benefits

Other long-term employee benefits, such as capped leave, are recognised as an expense in the statement of 
financial performance as a transfer (to households) when the final authorisation for payment is effected on the 
system (by no later than 31 March of each year).

Long-term employee benefits that give rise to a present legal or constructive obligation are disclosed in the 
disclosure notes to the financial statements.  

3.2.	 Goods and services

Payments made for goods and/or services are recognised as an expense in the statement of financial 
performance when the final authorisation for payment is effected on the system (by no later than 31 March of 
each year). 

The expense is classified as capital if the goods and/or services were acquired for a capital project or if the total 
purchase price exceeds the capitalisation threshold (currently R5,000). All other expenditures are classified as 
current.

3.3.	 Interest and rent on land

Interest and rental payments are recognised as an expense in the statement of financial performance when 
the final authorisation for payment is effected on the system (by no later than 31 March of each year). This item 
excludes rental for the use of buildings or other fixed structures. If it is not possible to distinguish between 
payment for the use of land and the fixed structures on it, the whole amount should be recorded under goods 
and services.

3.4.	 Financial transactions in assets and liabilities

Debts are written off when identified as irrecoverable. Debts written off are limited to the amount of savings 
and/or underspending of appropriated funds. The write-off occurs at year-end or when funds are available.  No 
provision is made for irrecoverable amounts but an estimate is included in the disclosure notes to the financial 
statements amounts. 
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All other losses are recognised when authorisation has been granted for the recognition thereof.

3.5.	 Transfers and subsidies

Transfers and subsidies are recognised as an expense when the final authorisation for payment is effected on 
the system (by no later than 31 March of each year).

3.6.	 Unauthorised expenditure

When confirmed, unauthorised expenditure is recognised as an asset in the statement of financial position 
until such time as the expenditure is either approved by the relevant authority, recovered from the responsible 
person or written off as irrecoverable in the statement of financial performance.

Unauthorised expenditure approved with funding is derecognised from the statement of financial position 
when the unauthorised expenditure is approved and the related funds are received.  

Where the amount is approved without funding, it is recognised as expenditure in the statement of financial 
performance on the date of approval.

3.7.	 Fruitless and wasteful expenditure

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure is recognised as expenditure in the statement of financial performance 
according to the nature of the payment and not as a separate line item on the face of the statement. If the 
expenditure is recoverable, it is treated as an asset until it is recovered from the responsible person or written 
off as irrecoverable in the statement of financial performance.

3.8.	 Irregular expenditure

Irregular expenditure is recognised as expenditure in the statement of financial performance. If the 
expenditure is not condoned by the relevant authority, it is treated as an asset until it is recovered or written 
off as irrecoverable.   

4.	 ASSETS

4.1.	 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the statement of financial position at cost.  

Bank overdrafts are shown separately on the face of the statement of financial position.

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, deposits held, 
other short-term highly liquid investments and bank overdrafts.
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4.2.	 Other financial assets

Other financial assets are carried in the statement of financial position at cost.

4.3.	 Pre-payments and advances

Amounts prepaid or advanced are recognised in the statement of financial position when the payments are 
made and where the goods and services have not been received by year-end.

Pre-payments and advances outstanding at the end of the year are carried in the statement of financial position 
at cost.

4.4.	 Receivables

Receivables included in the statement of financial position arise from cash payments made that are recoverable 
from another party or from the sale of goods/rendering of services.

Receivables outstanding at year-end are carried in the statement of financial position at cost plus any accrued 
interest. Amounts that are potentially irrecoverable are included in the disclosure notes.

4.5.	 Investments

Capitalised investments are shown at cost in the statement of financial position. 

Investments are tested for an impairment loss whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
investment may be impaired. Any impairment loss is included in the disclosure notes.  

4.6.	 Loans

Loans are recognised in the statement of financial position when the cash is paid to the beneficiary. Loans 
that are outstanding at year-end are carried in the statement of financial position at cost plus accrued interest.

Amounts that are potentially irrecoverable are included in the disclosure notes.

4.7.	 Inventory

Inventories that qualify for recognition must be initially reflected at cost. Where inventories are acquired at no 
cost, or for nominal consideration, their cost shall be their fair value at the date of acquisition.

All inventory items at year-end are reflected using the weighted average cost or FIFO cost formula.
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4.8.	 Capital assets

4.8.1.	 Movable assets

•	 Initial recognition

A capital asset is recorded on receipt of the item at cost. Cost of an asset is defined as the total cost of acquisition. 
Where the cost cannot be determined accurately, the movable capital asset is stated at fair value. Where fair 
value cannot be determined, the capital asset is included in the asset register at R1.

•	 Subsequent recognition

Subsequent expenditure of a capital nature is recorded in the statement of financial performance as 
“expenditure for capital asset” and is capitalised in the asset register of the Department on completion of the 
project.  

Repairs and maintenance is expensed as current “goods and services” in the statement of financial performance.

4.8.2.	 Immovable assets

•	 Initial recognition

A capital asset is recorded on receipt of the item at cost.  Cost of an asset is defined as the total cost of acquisition.  
Where the cost cannot be determined accurately, the immovable capital asset is stated at R1 unless the fair 
value for the asset has been reliably estimated.

•	 Subsequent recognition

Work-in-progress of a capital nature is recorded in the statement of financial performance as “expenditure for 
capital asset”. On completion, the total cost of the project is included in the asset register of the Department 
that legally owns the asset or the Provincial Department of Public Works.

Repairs and maintenance is expensed as current “goods and services” in the statement of financial performance.

5.	 LIABILITIES

5.1.	 Payables

Recognised payables mainly comprise of amounts owing to other governmental entities. These payables are 
carried at cost in the statement of financial position.
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5.2.	 Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities are included in the disclosure notes to the financial statements when it is possible that 
economic benefits will flow from the Department, or when an outflow of economic benefits or service potential 
is probable but cannot be measured reliably.

5.3.	 Contingent assets

Contingent assets are included in the disclosure notes to the financial statements when it is possible that an 
inflow of economic benefits will flow to the entity.

5.4.	 Commitments

Commitments are not recognised in the statement of financial position as a liability or as expenditure in the 
statement of financial performance but are included in the disclosure notes.

5.5.	 Accruals

Accruals are not recognised in the statement of financial position as a liability or as expenditure in the statement 
of financial performance but are included in the disclosure notes.

5.6.	 Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits that give rise to a present legal or constructive obligation are disclosed in the 
disclosure notes to the financial statements. These amounts are not recognised in the statement of financial 
performance or the statement of financial position.

5.7.	 Lease commitments

•	 Finance lease

Finance leases are not recognised as assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position. Finance lease 
payments are recognised as an expense in the statement of financial performance and are apportioned 
between the capital and interest portions. The finance lease liability is disclosed in the disclosure notes to the 
financial statements.

•	 Operating lease

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the statement of financial performance. The 
operating lease commitments are disclosed in the disclosure notes to the financial statement.



101

F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L
 S

TA
T

E
M

E
N

T
S

A n n u a l

5.8.	 Provisions

Provisions are disclosed when there is a present legal or constructive obligation to forfeit economic benefits as 
a result of events in the past and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will 
be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the obligation can be made.

6.	 RECEIVABLES FOR DEPARTMENTAL REVENUE

Receivables for Departmental revenue are disclosed in the disclosure notes to the annual financial statements.

7.	 NET ASSETS

7.1.	 Capitalisation reserve

The capitalisation reserve comprises of financial assets and/or liabilities originating in a prior reporting period 
but which are recognised in the statement of financial position for the first time in the current reporting period. 
Amounts are recognised in the capitalisation reserves when identified in the current period and are transferred 
to the Provincial Revenue Fund when the underlining asset is disposed and the related funds are received.

7.2.	 Recoverable revenue

Amounts are recognised as recoverable revenue when a payment made in a previous financial year becomes 
recoverable from a debtor in the current financial year. Amounts are either transferred to the Provincial Revenue 
Fund when recovered or are transferred to the statement of financial performance when written off.

8.	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Specific information with regards to related party transactions is included in the disclosure notes.

9.	 KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

Compensation paid to key management personnel including their family members where relevant, is included 
in the disclosure notes.

10.	 PUBLIC PRIVATE PARTNERSHIPS (PPP)

A description of the PPP arrangement, the contract fees and current and capital expenditure relating to the 
PPP arrangement is included in the disclosure notes.
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Notes to the Annual Financial Statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2010

1.	 Annual Appropriation 

Included are funds appropriated in terms of the Appropriation Act (and the Adjustments Appropriation Act) 
for Provincial Departments:

Final 
Appropriation

Actual Funds 
Received

Funds not 
Requested/ 

not Received

Appropriation 
Received 
2008/09

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Administration 36,944 36,944 - 30,869

Policy Coordination and Environmental Planning 22,378 22,378 - 18,359

Compliance and Enforcement 10,743 10,743 - 7,319

Environmental Quality Management 57,529 57,529 - 49,951

Biodiversity Management 137,467 137,467 - 98,633

TOTAL 265,061 265,061 - 205,131

2.	 Departmental revenue 

Note 2009/10 2008/09

R’000 R’000

Sales of goods and services other than capital assets 2.1 63 27

Fines, penalties and forfeits 2.2 614 475

Interest, dividends and rent on land 2.3 4 18

Sales of capital assets 2.4 40 10

Financial transactions in assets and liabilities 2.5 323 210

Total revenue collected 1,044 740

Less: Own revenue included in appropriation 14 106 126

Departmental revenue collected 938 614

2.1.	 Sales of goods and services other than capital assets

Note 2009/10 2008/09

2 R’000 R’000

Sales of goods and services produced by the Department 59 25

Administrative fees 43 10

Other sales 16 15

Sales of scrap, waste and other used current goods 4 2

TOTAL 63 27
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 march 2010

2.2.	 Fines, penalties and forfeits

Note 2009/10 2008/09

2 R’000 R’000

Fines 614 475

TOTAL 614 475

2.3.	 Interest, dividends and rent on land 

Note 2009/10 2008/09

2 R’000 R’000

Interest 4 18

TOTAL 4 18

2.4.	 Sale of capital assets

Note 2009/10 2008/09

2 R’000 R’000

Tangible capital assets 40 10

Machinery and equipment 29 40 10

TOTAL 40 10

2.5.	 Financial transactions in assets and liabilities

Note 2009/10 2008/09

2 R’000 R’000

Other receipts including recoverable revenue 323 210

TOTAL 323 210

3.	 Aid assistance 

3.1.	 Aid assistance received in cash from RDP

Note 2009/10 2008/09

R’000 R’000

Foreign 3

Opening Balance 433 (28)

Revenue 3,080 2,398

Expenditure (2,964) (1,937)

Current (2,964) (1,937)

Surrendered to the RDP (433) -

CLOSING BALANCE 116 433
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 march 2010

3.2.	 Total assistance

2009/10 2008/09

R’000 R’000

Opening Balance 433 (28)

Revenue 3,080 2,398

Expenditure (2,964) (1,937)

Current (2,964) (1,937)

Surrendered/Transferred to retained funds 433 -

CLOSING BALANCE 116 433

Analysis of balance Note

Aid assistance unutilised 3 116 433

RDP 116 433

CLOSING BALANCE 116 433

4.	 Compensation of employees

4.1.	 Salaries and wages

Note 2009/10 2008/09

R’000 R’000

Basic salary 4 59,596 46,318

Performance award 1,371 1,102

Service based 150 370

Compensative/circumstantial 1,413 1,036

Periodic payments 851 539

Other non-pensionable allowances 12,662 9,017

TOTAL 76,043 58,382

4.2.	 Social contributions

Note 2009/10 2008/09

R’000 R’000

Employer contributions 4

Pension 7,474 5,541

Medical 3,192 2,614

Bargaining council 10 9

Insurance - 2

TOTAL 10,676 8,166

TOTAL COMPENSATION OF EMPLOYEES 86,719 66,548

Average number of employees 326 289
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 march 2010

5.	 Goods and services 

Note 2009/10 2008/09

R’000 R’000

Administrative fees 26 119

Advertising 2,292 4,301

Assets less than R5,000 5.1 359 595

Bursaries (employees) 335 261

Catering 625 896

Communication 1,435 1,297

Computer services 5.2 684 1,931

Consultants, contractors and agency/outsourced services 5.3 17,481 14,397

Entertainment 50 59

Audit cost – external 5.4 1,961 1,310

Inventory 5.5 2,957 2,341

Operating leases 998 838

Transport provided as part of departmental activities 61 81

Travel and subsistence 5.6 5,561 5,632

Venues and facilities 510 982

Training and staff development 1,109 843

Other operating expenditure 5.7 715 728

TOTAL 37,159 36,611

5.1.	 Assets less than R5,000

Note 2009/10 2008/09

5 R’000 R’000

Tangible assets 349 595

Machinery and equipment 349 595

Intangible assets 10 -

TOTAL 359 595

5.2.	 Computer services

Note 2009/10 2008/09

5 R’000 R’000

SITA computer services 405 1,474

External computer service providers 279 457

TOTAL 684 1,931
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 march 2010

5.3.	 Consultants, contractors and agency/outsourced services

Note 2009/10 2008/09

5 R’000 R’000

Business and advisory services 11,941 10,885

Infrastructure and planning 27 46

Legal costs 4,910 3,036

Contractors 603 414

Agency and support/outsourced services - 16

TOTAL 17,481 14,397

5.4.	 Audit cost – external 

Note 2009/10 2008/09

5 R’000 R’000

Regularity audits 1,961 1,310

TOTAL 1,961 1,310

5.5.	 Inventory

Note 2009/10 2008/09

5 R’000 R’000

Learning and teaching support material 43 -

Other consumable materials 64 57

Maintenance material 91 25

Stationery and printing 2,756 2,251

Medical supplies 3 8

TOTAL 2,957 2,341

5.6.	 Travel and subsistence

Note 2009/10 2008/09

5 R’000 R’000

Local 5,435 5,020

Foreign 126 612

TOTAL 5,561 5,632

5.7.	 Other operating expenditure

Note 2009/10 2008/09

5 R’000 R’000

Professional bodies, membership and subscription fees 4 2

Resettlement costs 242 217

Other 469 509

TOTAL 715 728
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 march 2010

6.	 Interest and rent on land 

Note 2009/10 2008/09

R’000 R’000

Interest paid 10 -

TOTAL 10 -

7.	 Financial transactions in assets and liabilities 

Note 2009/10 2008/09

R’000 R’000

Material losses through criminal conduct 31 11

Other material losses 7.1 31 11

Other material losses written off 7.2 5 -

Debts written off 7.3 - 1

TOTAL 36 12

7.1.	 Other material losses

Note 2009/10 2008/09

7 R’000 R’000

Nature of other material losses

Incident Disciplinary steps taken/criminal proceedings

Motor Vehicle 
Damages

No disciplinary steps were taken against anyone involved in 
the 13 cases. 

31 11

Total 31 11

7.2.	 Other material losses written off

Note 2009/10 2008/09

7 R’000 R’000

Nature of losses

 Disallowances 5 -

TOTAL 5 -

7.3.	 Debts written off

Note 2009/10 2008/09

7 R’000 R’000

Nature of debts written off

 Tax debt - 1

TOTAL - 1
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7.4.	 Assets written off

Note 2009/10 2008/09

7 R’000 R’000

Nature of write-off

Audio visual equipment – Capital - 16

Computer hardware and systems – Capital 275 19

Computer hardware and systems – Current 21 3

Survey equipment – Capital 13 -

Photographic equipment – Current 1 -

Office furniture – Current 1 -

Electric wire & power supply – Current 1 -

Survey equipment – Current 4 -

TOTAL 316 38

8.	 Transfers and subsidies

Note 2009/10 2008/09

R’000 R’000

Provinces and municipalities Annex 1A - 350

Departmental agencies and accounts Annex 1B 133,595 95,659

Universities and technikons Annex 1C 60 -

Non-profit institutions Annex 1D 514 1,103

Households Annex 1E 180 854

Gifts, donations and sponsorships made Annex 1G 2 -

TOTAL 134,351 97,966

9.	 Expenditure for capital assets 

Note 2009/10 2008/09

R’000 R’000

Tangible assets 4,864 3,447

Machinery and equipment 29 4,864 3,447

Software and other intangible assets 191 -

Computer software 30 191 -

TOTAL 5,055 3,447
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9.1.	 Analysis of funds utilised to acquire capital assets – 2009/10

Voted Funds Aid Assistance Total

R’000 R’000 R’000

Tangible assets 4,864 - 4,864

Machinery and equipment 4,864 - 4,864

Software and other intangible assets 191 - 191

Computer software 191 - 191

TOTAL 5,055 - 5,055

9.2.	 Analysis of funds utilised to acquire capital assets – 2008/09

Voted Funds Aid Assistance Total

R’000 R’000 R’000

Tangible assets 3,447 - 3,447

Machinery and equipment 3,447 - 3,447

TOTAL 3,447 - 3,447

10.	 Cash and cash equivalents

Note 2009/10 2008/09

R’000 R’000

Cash on hand 2 2

Cash with commercial banks (Local) 5,068 1,011

TOTAL 5,070 1,013

11.	 Pre-payments and advances

Note 2009/10 2008/09

R’000 R’000

Travel and subsistence 10 32

TOTAL 10 32

12.	 Receivables

2009/10 2008/09

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Note Less than one 
year

One to three 
years

Older than 
three years

Total Total

Staff debt 12.1 31 48 - 79 104

Other debtors 12.2 93 2 - 95 54

TOTAL 124 50 - 174 158
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12.1.	 Staff debt

Note 2009/10 2008/09

12 R’000 R’000

Sal: Reversal Control - 6

Sal: Tax debt 4 4

Debt Account 75 94

TOTAL 79 104

12.2.	 Other debtors

Note 2009/10 2008/09

12 R’000 R’000

Disallowance: accidents 32 18

Claims recoverable 46 26

Disallowance: damages and losses 12 10

Sal: medical aid: current liabilities 5 -

TOTAL 95 54

13.	 Voted funds to be surrendered to the Revenue Fund

Note 2009/10 2008/09

R’000 R’000

Opening balance 547 1,717

Transfer from Statement of Financial Performance 1,731 547

Paid during the year (547) (1,717)

CLOSING BALANCE 1,731 547

14.	 Departmental revenue to be surrendered to the Revenue Fund

Note 2009/10 2008/09

R’000 R’000

Opening balance 16 1

Transfer from Statement of Financial Performance 938 614

Own revenue included in appropriation 106 126

Paid during the year (967) (725)

CLOSING BALANCE 93 16

15.	 Bank overdraft

Note 2009/10 2008/09

R’000 R’000

Consolidated Paymaster General Account 1,832 92

TOTAL 1,832 92
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16.	 Payables – current

Note 2009/10

Total

2008/09

Total

Amounts owing to other entities Annex 3 880 -

Clearing accounts 16.1 602 102

Other payables 16.2 - 13

TOTAL 1,482 115

16.1.	 Clearing accounts

Note 2009/10 2008/09

16 R’000 R’000

Description

Sal: income tax 466 16

Debt receivable income 61 79

Debt receivable interest 2 (1)

Sal: Pension fund: Current Liabilities 73 8

TOTAL 602 102

16.2.	 Other payables

Note 2009/10 2008/09

16 R’000 R’000

Description

ACB recalls - 13

TOTAL - 13

17.	 Net cash flow available from operating activities

Note 2009/10 2008/09

R’000 R’000

Net surplus/(deficit) as per Statement of Financial Performance 2,785 1,622

Add back non-cash/cash movements not deemed operating activities 4,547 1,162

(Increase)/decrease in receivables – current (16) (71)

(Increase)/decrease in pre-payments and advances 22 60

Increase/(decrease) in payables – current 1,367 52

Proceeds from sale of capital assets (40) (10)

Expenditure on capital assets 5,055 3,447

Surrenders to Revenue Fund (1,514) (2,442)

Surrenders to RDP Fund/Donor (433) -

Own revenue included in appropriation 106 126

Net cash flow generated by operating activities 7,332 2,784
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18.	 Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents for cash flow purposes

Note 2009/10 2008/09

R’000 R’000

Consolidated Paymaster General account (1,832) (92)

Cash on hand 2 2

Cash with commercial banks (Local) 5,068 1,011

TOTAL 3,238 921
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These amounts are not recognised in the Annual Financial Statements and are disclosed to enhance the 
usefulness of the Annual Financial Statements.

19.	 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

19.1.	 Contingent liabilities

Note 2009/10 2008/09

R’000 R’000

Liable to                                                      Nature

Other departments (interdepartmental unconfirmed balances) Annex 3 46 70

TOTAL 46 70

19.2.	 Contingent assets

Note 2009/10 2008/09

R’000 R’000

Nature of contingent asset

24G fines 867 467

TOTAL 867 467

Note:

In January 2005, Section 24G of the National Environment Management Act (Act No. 107 of 1998, as 
amended) was enacted, which allowed for the rectification of unlawfully commenced activities in terms of 
the Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations issued in terms of both the Environment Conservation Act, 
1989 (Act No. 73 of 1989) and the National Environment Management Act (Act No. 107 of 1998, as amended). 
The enactment prescribes a procedure to be followed for such applications and the issuing of an administrative 
fine by the competent authority when considering such applications. 

The Department has to date processed the applications it received. This entails considering the application, the 
issuing of an administrative fine and the issuing of an authorisation upon payment of the administrative fine.

Whilst it is expected that all fines issued by the Department will be paid, this is not the case since the fines 
issued by the Department are appealable and could thus be reduced by the Appeals Authority. As such, the 
fine issued by the Department is regarded as contingent since the quantum of the fine can be reduced during 
the processing of the application.

In terms of the total receipt of administrative fines, the changes to legislation as a result of the replacement 
of the Environment Conservation Act (1989), Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations by the National 
Environment Management Act (1998), Environmental Impact Assessment Regulations has resulted in the 
Department having to accept the withdrawal of applications submitted in lieu of the Environment Conservation 
Act (1989). As a result, the fines issued in terms of processing the ECA applications, will not be received or 
realised and as such these fines are also regarded as contingent.
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20.	 Commitments

Note 2009/10 2008/09

R’000 R’000

Current expenditure

Approved and contracted 5,317 8,488

5,317 8,488

Capital expenditure

Approved and contracted 7 1,049

7 1,049

TOTAL COMMITMENTS 5,324 9,537

Current expenditure commitments totalling R 419, 445 are older than 1 year and are approved and contracted as per the financial system.

21.	 Accruals

Listed by Economic Classification
2009/10 2008/09

R’000 R’000

30 Days 30+ Days Total Total

Goods and services 381 175 556 1,433

Machinery and equipment - - - 5

Other 2 66 68 355

TOTAL 383 241 624 1,793

Listed by Programme Level
Note 2009/10 2008/09

R’000 R’000

Programme 1: Administration 48 408

Programme 2: Policy Coordination and Environmental Planning 15 129

Programme 3: Compliance and Enforcement 381 540

Programme 4: Environmental Quality Management 180 697

Programme 5: Biodiversity Management - 19

TOTAL 624 1,793

Note 2009/10 2008/09

R’000 R’000

Confirmed balances with other departments Annex 3 1,025 531

TOTAL 1,025 531



115

F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L
 S

TA
T

E
M

E
N

T
S

A n n u a l

DISCLOSURE NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 march 2010

22.	 Employee benefits

Note 2009/10 2008/09

R’000 R’000

Leave entitlement 2,235 874

Service bonus (Thirteenth cheque) 2,286 1,707

Performance awards 1,588 1,380

Capped leave commitments 2,919 2,673

TOTAL 9,028 6,634

A credit amount of R258,782 was added back to leave entitlement.

23.	 Lease commitments

23.1.	 Operating lease expenditure

2009/10
Land Buildings and 

other Fixed 
Structures

Machinery and 
Equipment

  Total

Not later than 1 year - - 884 884

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years - - 501 501

TOTAL LEASE COMMITMENTS - - 1,385 1,385

2008/09 Land Buildings and 
other Fixed 

Structures

Machinery and 
Equipment

  Total

Not later than 1 year - - 785 785

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years - - 870 870

TOTAL LEASE COMMITMENTS - - 1,655 1,655

23.2.	 Finance leases expenditure

2009/10
Land Buildings and 

other Fixed 
Structures

Machinery and 
Equipment

 

Not later than 1 year - - 94 94

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years - - 19 19

TOTAL LEASE COMMITMENTS - - 113 113

LESS:  finance costs - - 17 17

TOTAL PRESENT VALUE OF LEASE LIABILITIES - - 96 96

2008/09

Not later than 1 year - - 110 110

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years - - 54 54

Total lease commitments 164 164

LESS:  finance costs - - 16 16

TOTAL PRESENT VALUE OF LEASE LIABILITIES - - 148 148
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24.	 Irregular expenditure

24.1.	 Reconciliation of irregular expenditure

Note 2009/10 2008/09

R’000 R’000

Opening balance

Add: Irregular expenditure – relating to prior year 34 -

Add: Irregular expenditure – relating to current year - 106

Less: Amounts condoned (34) (106)

IRREGULAR EXPENDITURE AWAITING CONDONATION - -

24.2.	 Details of irregular expenditure condoned

Incident
Condoned by 
(Condoning 
Authority)

2009/10

R’000

Production of DVD and other media footage Condoned by 
Accounting 
Officer

34

TOTAL 34

25.	 Fruitless and wasteful expenditure      

25.1.	 Reconciliation of fruitless and wasteful expenditure 

Note 2009/10 2008/09

R’000 R’000

Fruitless and wasteful expenditure – relating to current year 2 -

Less: Amounts condoned (2) -

FRUITLESS AND WASTEFUL EXPENDITURE AWAITING CONDONATION - -

25.2.	 Analysis of current year’s fruitless and wasteful expenditure 

Incident

Disciplinary 
Steps Taken/
Criminal 
Proceedings

2009/10 

R’000

Non-attendance of training courses None 2

TOTAL 2

26.	 Related party transactions

Information about related party transactions is required for accountability purposes and to facilitate a 
better understanding of the financial position and performance of the Department. The principle issues in 
disclosing information about related parties are identifying which parties control or significantly influence the 
Department and determining what information should be disclosed about transactions with those parties.
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Disclosure of:

•	 the types of the related party relationship;

•	 the types of transactions that have occurred; and

•	 the elements of the transactions necessary to clarify the significance of these transactions to its operations and 
sufficient to enable the Annual financial statements to provide relevant and reliable information for decision-
making and accountability purposes.

The above excludes transfer payments and subsidies, as this is disclosed in the Annexures to the financial 
statements.

The Department occupied buildings managed by the Department of Transport and Public Works at no cost. 
The Department used information technology related infrastructure provided by the Department of the 
Premier free of charge.  Western Cape Nature Conservation Board is a Schedule 3 Part C Public Entity in terms 
of the Public Finance Management Act and resorts under the Minister.  The Board received transfer payments 
during the 2009/10 financial year and complied with section 38(1) (j) of the Public Finance Management Act.  
Redundant assets were transferred to the Board in terms of Section 42 of the Public Finance Management Act 
during the financial year. Other redundant assets were also sold to staff.

Revenue Received
Note 2009/10 2008/09

R’000 R’000

Sales of goods and services other than capital assets 2 -

Sales of capital assets 38 10

TOTAL 40 10

27.	 Key management personnel

No. of 
Individuals

2009/10 2008/09

R’000 R’000

Political office bearers 1,337 1,443

Officials:

Level 15 to 16 3 1,088 945

Level 14 (incl. CFO if at a lower level) 4 3,225 2,763

TOTAL 5,650 5,151

28.	 Non-adjusting events after reporting date

The modernisation programme of the Provincial Government, which is at an advanced stage, proposes the shift 
of Human Resources (excluding the Departments of Health and Education), Internal Audit and Enterprise Risk 
Management functions to a shared Corporate Services within the Department of the Premier phased in from 
1 April 2010. The financial implications of the function shift will be finalised during the 2010/11 Adjustment 
Estimates process, once all the human resource and other related issues have been finalised.
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29.	 Movable Tangible Capital Assets

MOVEMENT IN MOVABLE TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS PER ASSET REGISTER FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2010

Opening 
Balance

Current Year 
Adjustments 
to Prior Year 

Balances

Additions Disposals Closing Balance

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT 19,898 54 4,864 2,263 22,553

Computer equipment 15,054 48 3,595 2,119 16,578

Furniture and office equipment 2,091 19 200 95 2,215

Other machinery and equipment 2,753 (13) 1,069 49 3,760

TOTAL MOVABLE TANGIBLE 
CAPITAL ASSETS

19,898 54 4,864 2,263 22,553

29.1.	 Additions

ADDITIONS TO MOVABLE TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS PER ASSET REGISTER FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2010

Cash Non-cash (Capital Work in 
Progress Current 

Costs and 
Finance Lease 

Payments)

Received 
Current, Not 

Paid

(Paid Current 
Year, Received 

Prior Year)

Total

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT 4,971 - (107) - 4,864

Computer equipment 3,595 - - - 3,595

Furniture and office equipment 200 - - - 200

Other machinery and equipment 1,176 - (107) - 1,069

TOTAL ADDITIONS TO MOVABLE 
TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS

4,971 - (107) - 4,864

29.2.	 Disposals

DISPOSALS OF MOVABLE TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS PER ASSET REGISTER FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2010

Sold for Cash Transfer Out or 
Destroyed or 

Scrapped

Total Disposals Cash Received 
Actual

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT 1,315 948 2,263 40

Computer equipment 1,315 804 2,119 40

Furniture and office equipment - 95 95 -

Other machinery and equipment - 49 49 -

TOTAL DISPOSAL OF MOVABLE TANGIBLE CAPITAL 
ASSETS

1,315 948 2,263 40



119

F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L
 S

TA
T

E
M

E
N

T
S

A n n u a l

DISCLOSURE NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ended 31 march 2010

29.3.	 Movement for 2008/09

MOVEMENT IN MOVABLE TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS PER ASSET REGISTER FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2009

Opening 
Balance

Additions Disposals Closing Balance

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT 17,449 3,447 998 19,898

Computer equipment 14,387 1,620 953 15,054

Furniture and office equipment 1,834 286 29 2,091

Other machinery and equipment 1,228 1,541 16 2,753

TOTAL MOVABLE TANGIBLE ASSETS 17,449 3,447 998 19,898

29.4.	 Minor assets

MINOR ASSETS OF THE DEPARTMENT AS AT 31 MARCH 2010

Intangible  
Assets

Heritage Assets Machinery and 
Equipment

Biological 
Assets

Total

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Minor assets 10 - 2,210 - 2,220

TOTAL 10 - 2,210 - 2,220

Number of R1 minor assets - - 3,628 3,628

Number of minor assets at cost 4 - 1,629 - 1,633

TOTAL NUMBER OF MINOR ASSETS 4 - 5,257 - 5,261

MINOR ASSETS OF THE DEPARTMENT AS AT 31 MARCH 2009

Intangible 
Assets

Heritage Assets Machinery and 
Equipment

Biological 
Assets

Total

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Minor assets - - 1,967 - 1,967

TOTAL - - 1,967 - 1,967

Number of R1 minor assets - - 5,124 - 5,124

TOTAL NUMBER OF MINOR ASSETS - - 5,124 - 5,124
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30.	 Intangible capital assets

MOVEMENT IN INTANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS PER ASSET REGISTER FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2010

Opening 
Balance

Current Year 
Adjustments 
to Prior Year 

Balances

Additions Disposals Closing Balance

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Computer software 617 - 191 - 808

TOTAL INTANGIBLE CAPITAL 
ASSETS

617 - 191 - 808

30.1.	 Additions

ADDITIONS TO INTANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS PER ASSET REGISTER FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2010

Cash Non-cash (Development 
Work in Progress 
– Current Costs)

Received 
Current Year, 

Not Paid

(Paid Current 
Year, Received 

Prior Year)

Total

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Computer software 191 - - - 191

TOTAL ADDITIONS TO 
INTANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS

191 - - - 191

30.2.	 Movement for 2008/09

MOVEMENT IN INTANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS PER ASSET REGISTER FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2009

Opening 
Balance

Additions Disposals Closing Balance

R’000 R’000 R’000 R’000

Computer software 617 - - 617

TOTAL INTANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS 617 - - 617
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TABLE 5.10.3 - Annual leave, 1 January 2009 to 31 December 2009		

Salary Bands Total Days Taken Average Days per 
Employee

Lower skilled (Levels 1-2) 62  16 

Skilled (Levels 3-5) 1,492  20 

Highly skilled production (Levels 6-8) 1,814  19 

Highly skilled supervision (Levels 9-12) 3,101  21 

Senior management (Levels 13-16) 259  20 

TOTAL 6,728  20 

TABLE 5.10.4 - Capped leave, 1 January 2009  to 31 December 2009			 

Salary Bands
Total Days of Capped 

Leave Taken
Average Number of Days 

Taken per Employee
Average Capped Leave 

per Employee as at  
31 December 2009

Lower skilled (Levels 1-2) -  -  - 

Skilled (Levels 3-5)  23  -  1 

Highly skilled production (Levels 6-8)  1  -  6 

Highly skilled supervision (Levels 9-12) -  -  11 

Senior management (Levels 13-16)  53  4  30 

TOTAL  77  0  8 

TABLE 5.10.5 - Leave payouts for the period 1 April 2009  to 31 March 2010

The following table summarises payments made to employees as a result of leave that was not taken.		

Reason

Total 
Amount  

 
 

R'000

Number of 
Employees

Average 
Payment 

per 
Employee 

R’000

Leave payout for 2009/10 due to non-utilisation of leave for the previous cycle 8  1  7,904 

Capped leave payouts on termination of service for 2009/10  -  -  - 

Current leave payout on termination of service for 2009/10  25  5  24,596 

TOTAL  33  6  32,500 
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TABLE 5.12.3 - Types of misconduct addressed at disciplinary hearings, 1 April 2009 to 31 March 2010	

Type of Misconduct Number % of Total

False statements/evidence in execution of duties  1 16.7

Misuse of GG vehicle  1 16.7

Misuse of State property  1 16.7

Mismanagement of state funds  1 16.7

Unauthorised absence  1 16.7

Under the influence of alcohol  1 16.7

Total  6 100

TABLE 5.12.4 - Grievances lodged for the period 1 April 2009 to 31 March 2010		

Grievances Number % of Total

Number of grievances resolved  14 77.8

Number of grievances not resolved  4 22.2

Total Number of Grievances Lodged  18 100

TABLE 5.12.6 - Strike actions for the period 1 April 2009 to 31 March 2010	

Strike Actions

Total number of person working days lost 0

Total cost (R'000) of working days lost 0

Amount (R'000) Recovered as a Result of No Work No Pay 0

TABLE 5.12.5 - Disputes lodged with councils, 1 April 2009 to 31 March 2010		

Disputes Number % of Total

Number of disputes upheld  - 0

Number of disputes dismissed  2 100

Total Number of Disputes Lodged  2 100

TABLE 5.12.7 - Precautionary suspensions for the period 1 April 2009 to 31 March 2010	

Precautionary Suspensions

Number of people suspended 1

Number of people whose suspension exceeded 30 days 1

Average number of days suspended 116

Cost (R'000) of Suspensions 58
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